IDAHO TREATMENT COURT BEST PRACTICE STANDARDS VOLUME II

Contents

VI.	Drug and Alcohol Testing	1
A.	Frequent Testing	1
B.	Random Testing	1
C.	Duration of Testing	1
D.	Breadth of Testing	1
E.	Witnessed Collection	1
F.	Valid Specimens	1
G.	Accurate and Reliable Testing Procedures	1
Н.	Rapid Results	2
I.	Participant Contract	2
VII.	Multidisciplinary Team	13
A.	Team Composition	13
В.	Pre-Court Staff Meetings	13
C.	Sharing Information	13
D.	Team Communication and Decision Making	13
E.	Status Hearings	13
F.	Team Training	13
VIII.	Census and Caseloads	26
A.	Treatment Court Census	26
B.	Supervision Caseloads	26
C.	Clinician Caseloads	26
IX.	Monitoring and Evaluation	34
A.	Adherence to Best Practices	34
В.	In-Program Outcomes	34
C.	Criminal Recidivism	34
D.	Independent Evaluations	34
E.	Electronic Database	34
F.	Timely and Reliable Data Entry	34
G.	Intent-to-Treat Analyses	34

H.	Comparison Groups	34
I.	Time at Risk	35
J.	Collected Data and Reporting	35

VI. Drug and Alcohol Testing

Drug and alcohol testing provides an accurate, timely, and comprehensive assessment of unauthorized substance use throughout participants' enrollment in the Treatment Court.

A. Frequent Testing

Drug and alcohol testing is performed frequently enough to ensure substance use is detected quickly and reliably. Urine testing is performed at least twice per week until participants are in the last phase of the program and preparing for graduation. Tests that measure substance use over extended periods of time, such as ankle monitors, are applied for at least ninety consecutive days followed by urine or other intermittent testing methods. Tests that have short detection windows, such as breathalyzers or oral fluid tests, are administered when recent substance use is suspected or when substance use is more likely to occur, such as during weekends or holidays.

B. Random Testing

The schedule of drug and alcohol testing is random and unpredictable. The probability of being tested on weekends and holidays is the same as on other days. Participants are required to deliver a test specimen as soon as practicable after being notified that a test has been scheduled. Urine specimens are delivered no more than eight hours after being notified that a urine test has been scheduled. For tests with short detection windows, such as oral fluid tests, specimens are delivered no more than four hours after being notified that a test was scheduled.

C. Duration of Testing

Drug and alcohol testing continues uninterrupted to determine whether relapse occurs as other treatment and supervision services are adjusted.

D. Breadth of Testing

Test specimens are examined for all unauthorized substances of abuse that are suspected to be used by Treatment Court participants. Randomly selected specimens are tested periodically for a broader range of substances to detect new substances of abuse that might be emerging in the Treatment Court population.

E. Witnessed Collection

Collection of test specimens is witnessed directly by a staff person who has been trained to prevent tampering and substitution of fraudulent specimens. Barring exigent circumstances, participants are not permitted to undergo independent drug or alcohol testing in lieu of being tested by trained personnel assigned to or authorized by the Treatment Court.

F. Valid Specimens

Test specimens are examined routinely for evidence of dilution and adulteration.

G. Accurate and Reliable Testing Procedures

The Treatment Court uses scientifically valid and reliable testing procedures and establishes a chain of custody for each specimen. If a participant denies substance use in response to a positive screening test, a portion of the same specimen is subjected to confirmatory analysis using an instrumented test, such as gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) or liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC/MS). Barring staff expertise in toxicology,

pharmacology, or a related discipline, drug or metabolite concentrations falling below industry- or manufacturer-recommended cutoff levels are not interpreted as evidence of new substance use or changes in participants' substance use patterns.

H. Rapid Results

Test results, including the results of confirmation testing, are available to the Treatment Court within forty-eight hours of sample collection.

I. Participant Contract

Upon entering the Treatment Court, participants receive a clear and comprehensive explanation of their rights and responsibilities related to drug and alcohol testing. This information is described in a participant contract or handbook and reviewed periodically with participants to ensure they remain cognizant of their obligations.

<u>COMMENTARY</u>

Certainty is one of the most influential factors for success in a behavior modification program (Harrell & Roman, 2001; Marlowe & Kirby, 1999). Outcomes improve significantly when detection of substance use is likely (Kilmer et al., 2012; Marques et al., 2014; Schuler et al., 2014), and participants receive incentives for abstinence and sanctions or treatment adjustments for positive test results (Hawken & Kleiman, 2009; Marlowe et al., 2005). Therefore, the success of any Drug Court will depend, in part, on the reliable monitoring of substance use. If a Drug Court does not have accurate and timely information about whether participants are maintaining abstinence from alcohol and other drugs, the team has no way to apply incentives or sanctions correctly or to adjust treatment and supervision services accordingly. Drug and alcohol testing also serves other important therapeutic aims, such as helping to confirm clinicians' diagnostic impressions, providing objective feedback to participants about their progress or lack thereof in treatment, and assisting clinicians to challenge and resolve participant denial about the severity of their problems (American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM), 2010, 2013; DuPont & Selavka, 2008; DuPont et al., 2014; Srebnik et al., 2014).

Participants cannot be relied upon to self-disclose substance use accurately (Hunt et al., 2015). Studies consistently find that between 25% and 75% of participants in substance use disorder treatment deny recent substance use when biological testing reveals a positive result (Auerbach, 2007; Harris et al., 2008; Hindin et al., 1994; Magura & Kang, 1997; Morral et al., 2000; Peters et al., 2015; Tassiopoulos et al., 2004). The accuracy of self-reporting is particularly low among individuals involved in the criminal justice system, presumably because they are likely to receive sanctions for substance use (Harrison, 1997; Peters et al., 2015). Although some clinicians may assume that the accuracy of self-report increases during the course of treatment, contrary evidence suggests participants may be less likely to acknowledge substance use after they have been enrolled in treatment for a period of time or have completed treatment (Wish et al., 1997). The longer participants are in treatment, the more staff come to expect and insist upon abstinence. For this reason, participants find it increasingly difficult to admit to substance use after they have been enrolled in treatment for several months (Davis et al., 2014; Nirenberg et al., 2013).

Best practices for conducting drug and alcohol testing vary considerably depending on whether a test is administered intermittently as opposed to continually, the length of the test's detection window, and the range of substances the test is capable of detecting. Some tests, such as urine or oral fluid tests, must be administered repeatedly, whereas others, such as sweat patches or ankle monitors, can measure substance use over extended periods of time. Most drug metabolites are detectable in urine for approximately two to four days, but are detectable in oral fluid for an average of twenty-four hours and in breath or blood for less than twelve hours (Auerbach, 2007; Cary, 2011; DuPont et al., 2014). Some tests, such as breathalyzers, can only assess for alcohol use, whereas urine tests can assess for a wide range of substances. These factors influence how the tests must be used to obtain useful results.

Urine testing is, by far, the most common methodology used in Drug Courts and probation programs. This is because urine is typically available in copious amounts, is relatively simple to collect, does not require elaborate sample preparation procedures, is inexpensive to analyze, and can be examined for many substances (Cary, 2011). Most studies, to date, have examined best practices for conducting urine testing with offenders; however, recent studies have

begun to examine other testing methods in Drug Courts, including sweat patches and ankle monitors.

A. Frequent Testing

The more frequently Drug Courts and probation programs perform urine drug testing, the better their outcomes in terms of higher graduation rates and lower drug use and criminal recidivism (Banks & Gottfredson, 2003; Gottfredson et al., 2007; Griffith et al., 2000; Harrell et al., 1998; Hawken & Kleiman, 2009; Kinlock et al., 2013; National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2006). In focus groups, Drug Court participants consistently identified frequent drug and alcohol testing as being among the most influential factors for success in the program (Gallagher et al., 2015; Goldkamp et al., 2002; Saum et al., 2002; Turner et al., 1999; Wolfer, 2006).

The most effective Drug Courts perform urine drug testing at least twice per week for the first several months of the program (Carey et al., 2008). In a multisite study of approximately seventy Drug Courts, programs performing urine testing at least twice per week in the first phase produced 38% greater reductions in crime and were 61% more cost-effective than programs performing urine testing less frequently (Carey et al., 2012). Because the metabolites of most drugs of abuse are detectable in urine for approximately two to four days, testing less frequently leaves an unacceptable time gap during which participants can abuse substances and evade detection, thus leading to significantly poorer outcomes (Stitzer & Kellogg, 2008).

Recent studies have examined the impact of other testing methods in Drug Courts. The Secure Continuous Remote Alcohol Monitor (SCRAM) is an ankle device that can detect alcohol in sweat and transmits a wireless signal to a remote monitoring station. Preliminary evidence suggests the use of a SCRAM may deter alcohol consumption and alcohol-impaired driving among recidivist driving-while-impaired (DWI) offenders if it is worn for at least ninety consecutive days (Flango & Cheesman, 2009; Tison et al., 2015). Another study found that adding sweat patches to urine testing did not improve outcomes in a Drug Court (Kleinpeter et al., 2010). However, that study did not examine the influence of sweat patches alone or as compared against urine testing. The study merely found that the addition of sweat patches did not improve outcomes beyond what was already being achieved from frequent urine drug testing.

Ethyl glucuronide (EtG) and ethyl sulfate (EtS) are metabolites of alcohol that can be detected in urine for longer periods of time than ethanol. The use of EtG or EtS can extend the time window for detecting alcohol consumption from several hours to several days (Cary, 2011). A recent randomized, controlled trial reported that participants completed the first two phases of a Drug Court significantly sooner when they were subjected to weekly EtG and EtS testing (Gibbs & Wakefield, 2014). The EtG and EtS testing enabled the Drug Court to respond more rapidly and reliably to instances of alcohol use, thus producing more efficient results. Importantly, EtG and EtS testing was determined in the same study to be superior to standard ethanol testing for detecting alcohol use occurring over weekends. Because some Drug Courts may not perform drug or alcohol testing on weekends, weekday tests capable of detecting weekend substance use are crucial.

As was noted previously, some drug or alcohol tests have short detection windows of twelve to twenty-four hours. This makes them generally unsuitable for use as the primary testing method in Drug Courts. Such tests can be used effectively, however, for spot-testing when recent use is suspected or during high-risk times, such as weekends or holidays. Evidence also suggests these tests can deter substance use effectively if they are administered on a daily basis. A statewide study in South Dakota found that daily breathalyzer testing significantly reduced failures to appear and rearrest rates among DWI offenders released on bail (Kilmer et al., 2012). In that study, daily breathalyzer testing appears to have been sufficient to deter alcohol consumption in the majority of cases without the need for additional services.

B. Random Testing

Drug and alcohol testing is most effective when performed on a random basis (ASAM, 2013; ASAM, 2010; Auerbach, 2007; Carver, 2004; Cary, 2011; Harrell & Kleiman, 2002; McIntire et al., 2007). If participants know in advance when they will be tested, they can adjust the timing of their usage or take other countermeasures, such as excessive fluid consumption, to defraud the tests (McIntire & Lessenger, 2007). Random drug testing elicits significantly higher percentages of positive tests than prescheduled testing, suggesting that many participants can evade detection if they have advance notice about when testing will occur (Harrison,1997).

Random testing means the odds of being tested are the same on any given day of the week, including weekends and holidays. For example, if a participant is scheduled to be drug tested two times per week, then the odds of

being tested should be two in seven (28%) on every day of the week. For this reason, Drug Courts should not schedule their testing regimens in seven-day or weekly blocks, which is a common practice. Assume, for example, that a participant is randomly selected for drug testing on Monday and Wednesday of a given week. If testing is scheduled in weekly blocks, then the odds of that same participant being selected again for testing on Thursday will be zero. In behavioral terms, this is referred to as a respite from detection, which can lead to increased drug or alcohol use owing to the absence of negative consequences (Marlowe & Wong,2008).

The odds of being tested for drugs and alcohol should be the same on weekends and holidays as on any other day of the week (Marlowe, 2012). Weekends and holidays are high-risk times for drug and alcohol use (Kirby et al., 1995; Marlatt & Gordon, 1985). Providing a respite from detection during high-risk times reduces the randomness of testing and undermines the central aims of a drug-testing program (ASAM, 2013).

Limiting the time delay between notification of an impending drug or alcohol test and collection of the test specimen is essential (ASAM, 2013). If participants can delay provision of a specimen for even a day or two, they can rely on natural elimination processes to reduce drug and metabolite concentrations below cutoff levels. For participants who live in close proximity to the testing facility and do not have confirmed scheduling conflicts, Drug Courts can reasonably expect samples to be delivered within a few hours of notification that a test has been scheduled (Cary, 2011). Barring exigent circumstances, participants should be required to deliver a urine specimen no more than eight hours after being notified that a urine test has been scheduled (Auerbach, 2007). This practice should give most participants ample time to meet their daily obligations and travel to the sample collection site, while also reducing the likelihood that metabolite concentrations will fall below cutoff levels. For tests with short detection windows of less than twenty-four hours, such as oral fluid tests, participants should be required to deliver a specimen no more than four hours after being notified that a test has been scheduled.

C. Duration of Testing

A basic tenet of behavior modification provides that the effects of any intervention should be assessed continually until all components of the intervention are completed (Rusch & Kazdin, 1981). This is the only way to know whether a participant is likely to relapse or regress after the program ends.

Drug Courts commonly decrease the intensity of treatment and supervision as participants make progress in the program. For example, the frequency of court hearings or case management sessions is commonly reduced as participants advance through successive phases. With a reduction of services comes the ever-present risk of relapse or other behavioral setback; therefore, drug and alcohol testing should continue uninterrupted to reveal any relapse as other components of the participants' treatment regimens are adjusted (Cary, 2011; Marlowe, 2011, 2012). Although research has not addressed the issue, logic dictates maintaining the frequency of drug and alcohol testing until participants are engaged in what will ultimately be their continuing-care or aftercare plan. This practice provides the greatest assurance that participants are likely to remain abstinent after program graduation.

D. Breadth of Testing

Drug Courts must test for the full range of substances that are likely to be used by participants in the program. Participants can easily evade detection of their substance use on many standard test panels—such as the National Institute on Drug Abuse five-panel test (NIDA-5) or a standard eight-panel test—simply by switching to other drugs of abuse that have similar psychoactive effects but are not detected by the test (ASAM, 2013). For example, heroin users can avoid detection by many standard test panels if they switch to pharmaceutical opioids, such as oxycodone or buprenorphine (Wish et al., 2012). Similarly, marijuana users can avoid detection by using synthetic cannabinoids, such as K2 or Spice, which were developed for the specific purpose of avoiding detection (Cary, 2014; Castaneto et al., 2014). Studies confirm that some marijuana users do switch to synthetic cannabinoids to evade detection by drug tests and then return to marijuana use after the testing regimen has been discontinued (Perrone et al., 2013). Because new substances of abuse are constantly being sought out by offenders to cheat drug tests, Drug Courts should select test specimens randomly and frequently and examine them for a wide range of potential drugs of abuse that might be emerging in their population (ASAM, 2013).

E. Witnessed Collection

Drug Court participants and probationers acknowledge engaging in widespread efforts to defraud drug and alcohol tests. These efforts include, but are not limited to, consuming excessive water to dilute the sample

(dilution), adulterating the sample with chemicals intended to mask a positive result (adulteration), and substituting another person's urine or a look-alike sample that is not urine, such as apple juice (substitution) (Cary, 2011; McIntire & Lessenger, 2007). Collectively, these efforts are referred to as tampering. In focus groups, Drug Court participants reported being aware of several individuals in their program who tampered with drug tests on more than one occasion without being detected by staff (Goldkamp et al., 2002).

The most effective way to avoid tampering is to ensure that sample collection is witnessed directly by a trained and experienced staff person (ASAM, 2013; Cary, 2011). If substitution or adulteration is suspected, a new sample should be collected immediately under closely monitored conditions (McIntire et al., 2007). Staff members should be trained in how to implement countermeasures to avoid tampered test specimens. Examples of such countermeasures include searching participants' clothing for chemical adulterants or fraudulent samples, requiring participants to leave outerwear outside of the test-collection room, and putting colored dye in the sink and toilet to prevent water from being used to dilute test specimens (McIntire & Lessenger, 2007).

If substitution or other efforts at tampering are suspected for a urine specimen, it may be useful to obtain an oral fluid specimen immediately as a secondary measure of substance use. Generally speaking, observing the collection of oral fluid closely is easier than for the collection of urine, and oral fluid tests are less susceptible to dilution than urine tests (Heltsley et al., 2012; Sample et al., 2010). However, because oral fluid testing has a shorter detection window than urine testing, a negative oral fluid test would not necessarily rule out recent drug use or the possibility of a tampered urine test.

Because specialized training is required to minimize tampering of test specimens, under most circumstances participants should be precluded from undergoing drug and alcohol testing by independent sources. In exigent circumstances, such as when participants live a long distance from the test collection site, the Drug Court might designate independent professionals or laboratories to perform drug and alcohol testing. As a condition of approval, these professionals should be required to complete formal training on the proper collection, handling, and analyses of drug and alcohol test samples among Drug Court participants or comparable criminal justice populations. Drug Courts are also required to follow generally accepted chain- of-custody procedures when handling test specimens (ASAM, 2013; Cary, 2011; Meyer, 2011). Therefore, if independent professionals or laboratories perform drug and alcohol testing, they must be trained carefully to follow proper chain-of-custody procedures.

F. Valid Specimens

Several low-cost analyses can be performed to detect adulterated or diluted test specimens (McIntire et al., 2007). The temperature of each urine specimen should be examined immediately upon collection to ensure it is consistent with an expected human body temperature. An unusual temperature might suggest the sample cooled down because it was collected at an earlier point in time, or was mixed with water that was too cold or too hot to be consistent with body temperature. Under normal conditions, urine specimens should be between 900 and 1000 F within four minutes of collection, and a lower or higher temperature likely indicates a deliberate effort at deception (ASAM, 2013; Tsai et al., 1998).

Urine specimens should also be tested for creatinine and specific gravity. Creatinine is a metabolic product of muscle contraction that is excreted in urine at a relatively constant rate. A creatinine level below 20 mg/dL is rare and is a reliable indicator of an intentional effort at dilution or excessive fluid consumption barring unusual medical or metabolic conditions (ASAM, 2013; Cary, 2011; Jones & Karlsson, 2005; Katz et al., 2007). Specific gravity reflects the amount of solid substances that are dissolved in urine. The greater the specific gravity, the more concentrated the urine; and the lower the specific gravity, the closer its consistency to water. The normal range of specific gravity for urine is 1.003 to 1.030, and a specific gravity of 1.000 is essentially water. Some experts believe a specific gravity below 1.003 reflects a diluted sample (Katz et al., 2007). Although this analysis, by itself, may not be sufficient to prove excessive fluid consumption, dilution is likely to have occurred if the specific gravity is low and accompanies other evidence of tampering or invalidity, such as a low creatinine level or temperature. Several commercially available test strips, such as Adultacheck and Intect, have also been shown to reliably detect dilution or adulteration of urine test samples (Dasgupta et al., 2004; Mikkelsen & Ash,1988).

G. Accurate and Reliable Testing Procedures

To be admissible as evidence in a legal proceeding, drug and alcohol test results must be derived from scientifically valid and reliable methods (Meyer, 2011). Appellate courts have recognized the scientific

validity of several commonly used methods for analyzing urine, including gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS), liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS), the enzyme multiple immunoassay technique (EMIT), and some sweat, oral fluid, hair, and ankle-monitor tests (Meyer, 2011).

Tests such as GC/MS and LC/MS/MS are referred to as instrumented tests, laboratory-based tests, or confirmation tests. These tests have a higher degree of scientific precision than immunoassay tests, point of collection tests (POCT), or screening tests, such as on-site test cups or instant test strips. If a participant denies substance use in the face of a positive screening test, courts will typically require, and toxicology experts recommend performing confirmation testing using GC/MS or a similar instrumented technique (ASAM, 2013; Cary, 2011). Confirmation with an instrumented test virtually eliminates the odds of a false-positive result, assuming the sample was collected and stored properly (Auerbach, 2007; Peat, 1988). Drug Courts commonly require participants to pay the cost of confirmation tests if the initial screening result is confirmed (Cary, 2011; Meyer, 2011). Confirmation testing should be performed on a portion of the original test specimen. If confirmation testing is performed on a different specimen that was collected at a later point in time, a conflicting result might not reflect a failure to confirm but rather differences in the detection windows for the tests or the metabolic processes of the participant.

Drug Courts must follow generally accepted chain-of-custody procedures when handling test specimens (ASAM, 2013; Cary, 2011; Meyer, 2011). They need to establish a reliable paper trail identifying each professional who handled the specimen from collection through laboratory analysis to reporting of the results. Establishing a proper chain of custody requires sufficient labeling and security measures to provide confidence that the specimen belongs to the individual identified on the record and the specimen was transported and stored according to generally accepted laboratory procedures and manufacturer recommendations.

Some Drug Courts interpret changes in quantitative levels of drug metabolites as evidence that new substance use has occurred or a participant's substance use pattern has changed. Unless a Drug Court has access to an expert trained in toxicology, pharmacology, or a related discipline, such practices should be avoided. Quantitative metabolite levels can vary considerably based on a number of factors, including the total fluid content in urine or blood (Cary, 2004; Schwilke et al., 2010). Moderate changes in participants' fluid intake or fluid retention could lead Drug Courts to miscalculate substance use patterns. Most drug and alcohol tests used in Drug Courts were designed to be qualitative, meaning they were designed to determine whether a drug or drug metabolite is present at levels above a prespecified concentration level. The cutoff concentration level is calculated empirically to maximize the true-positive rate, true-negative rate, or classification rate. When Drug Courts engage in quantitative analyses, they are effectively altering the cut-off score and making the results less accurate.

Some Drug Courts have difficulty interpreting positive cannabinoid (marijuana) test results. Because cannabinoids are lipid-soluble (i.e., bind to fat molecules), they may be excreted more slowly than other substances of abuse. This has caused confusion about when a positive cannabinoid result may be interpreted as evidence of new use as opposed to residual use from an earlier episode. A participant is highly unlikely to produce a cannabinoid-positive urine result above 50 ng/mL after more than ten days following cessation of chronic usage or for more than three to four days following a single-use event (Cary, 2005). Therefore, a Drug Court would be justified in considering the first two weeks of enrollment to be a grace period during which there would be no sanctions for positive cannabinoid test results. However, subsequent positive tests may be interpreted as evidence of new cannabis use and dealt with accordingly. Moreover, once a participant has produced two consecutive cannabinoid-negative urine specimens (called an abstinence baseline), a subsequent cannabinoid-positive test may be interpreted as new use (Cary, 2005). Some Drug Courts or laboratories may employ a lower cutoff level of 20 ng/mL for cannabis metabolites. Using this lower cutoff, thirty days is sufficient to establish a presumptive abstinence baseline even for chronic users (Cary, 2005); in the majority of cases, twenty-one days should be sufficient.

Some participants may attempt to attribute a positive cannabinoid test to passive inhalation or second-hand smoke. This excuse should not be credited. The likelihood of passive inhalation triggering a positive cannabinoid test is negligible (Cone et al., 2014; Law et al., 1984; Katz et al., 2007; Niedbala et al., 2005). Moreover, because Drug Court participants are usually prohibited from associating with people who are engaged in substance use, passive inhalation may be viewed as a violation of this central prohibition, thus meriting an additional sanction (Marlowe, 2011).

H. Rapid Results

In addition to certainty, timing is one of the most influential factors for success in a behavior modification program (Harrell & Roman, 2001; Marlowe & Kirby, 1999). The sooner sanctions are delivered after an infraction and incentives delivered after an achievement, the better the results. Because sanctions and incentives are imposed routinely on the basis of drug and alcohol test results, the Drug Court team needs test results before participants appear for status hearings.

A study of approximately seventy Drug Courts reported significantly greater reductions in criminal recidivism and significantly greater cost benefits when the teams received drug and alcohol test results within forty-eight hours of sample collection (Carey et al., 2012). Drug Courts that received test results within forty-eight hours were 73% more effective at reducing crime and 68% more cost-effective than Drug Courts receiving test results after longer delays. Ordinarily, negative test results should take no longer than one business day to produce, and positive results should require no more than two days if confirmation testing is requested (Cary, 2011; Robinson & Jones, 2000).

I. Participant Contract

Outcomes are significantly better when Drug Courts specify their policies and procedures clearly in a participant manual or handbook (Carey et al., 2012). Criminal defendants are significantly more likely to react favorably to an adverse judgment if they were given advance notice about how such judgments would be made (Burke & Leben, 2007; Frazer, 2006; Tyler, 2007). Drug Courts can enhance participants' perceptions of fairness substantially and reduce avoidable delays from contested drug and alcohol tests by describing their testing procedures and requirements in a participant contract or handbook.

Below are examples of provisions that should be included in a participant contract to address many of the best practices discussed above. For participants with limited educational histories, the language may need to be simplified and the requirements explained orally. Repeat the information periodically to ensure participants understand their rights and obligations.

- Drug and alcohol testing will be performed frequently and on a random basis throughout your enrollment in the Drug Court.
- Drug and alcohol testing will be performed on weekends and holidays.
- Drug and alcohol testing will be performed by a laboratory or program approved by the Drug Court.
- Because cannabinoids (a byproduct of marijuana) may persist in the body for several days, marijuana
 users have a two-week grace period following enrollment during which no sanctions will be given
 for positive cannabinoid test results. However, after two weeks positive cannabinoid tests will be
 presumed to reflect new marijuana use. Participants bear the burden of establishing a convincing
 alternative explanation for such results. After you have had two consecutive cannabinoid-negative
 urine specimens, the Drug Court will presume that subsequent positive cannabinoid results reflect
 new use.
- You must arrive at the testing facility as soon as possible after being notified that a test has been scheduled. You will be sanctioned for an unexcused failure to arrive within eight hours of being notified that a urine test has been scheduled or within four hours for tests that have short detection windows, such as breath or oral fluid tests.
- A staff person will directly observe the collection of test specimens. The staff person will be the same gender as you unless you, your defense attorney or your therapist request otherwise.
- Failure to provide a test specimen or providing an insufficient volume of fluid for analysis is an infraction of the rules of the program and will be sanctioned accordingly. You will be given a sufficient time (up to one hour) to deliver a urine specimen and allowed to drink up to one cup of water in the presence of staff.
- You may not drink any fluid excessively before testing and must avoid environmental contaminants, over-the-counter medications, or foods that can reduce the accuracy of the tests. Potential contaminants that you need to avoid are [provide list of contaminants].
- You may be subjected to immediate spot testing if the Drug Court has reason to suspect recent use or during high-risk times such as weekends or holidays.
- You have the right to challenge the results of a screening test and to request proof that an adequate chain of custody was established for your specimen. The Drug Court will rely on the results of an instrumented or laboratory-based test in confirming whether substance use has occurred. You may be charged the cost of the confirmation test if a screening test is confirmed.

- You will be sanctioned for providing diluted, adulterated, or substituted test specimens. Urine specimens below 90° F, above 100° F, or that have a creatinine level below 20 mg/dL will be presumed to be diluted or fraudulent. Participants bear the burden of establishing a convincing alternative explanation for such results. Under such circumstances, you may receive two sanctions, one for the substance use and one for the effort at deception.
- You will be sanctioned for using synthetic substances such as K2 or Spice that are designed to avoid
 detection by standard drug tests. Switching to a new substance of abuse (for example, switching from
 heroin to an unauthorized prescription opioid) will be presumed to be an effort to defraud the drug
 test. You may receive two sanctions in such circumstances, one for the substance use and one for the
 effort at deception.
- You will be sanctioned for associating with other people who are engaged in substance use or for exposing yourself to passive inhalation or secondhand smoke.

REFERENCES

- American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2010). Public policy statement on drug testing as a component of addiction treatment and monitoring programs and in other clinical settings. Chevy Chase, MD: Author. Available at http://www.asam.org/advocacy/find-a-policy-statement/view-policy-statement/public-policy-statements/2011/12/15/drug-testing-as-a-component-of-addiction-treatment-and-monitoring-programs-and-in-other-clinical-settings
- American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2013). Drug testing: A white paper of the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM). Chevy Chase, MD: Author. Available at http://www.asam.org/docs/default-source/publicy-policy-statements/drug-testing-a-white-paper-by-asam.pdf?sfvrsn=2
- Auerbach, K. (2007). Drug testing methods. In J.E. Lessenger & G.F. Roper (Eds.), *Drug courts: A new approach to treatment and rehabilitation* (pp. 215–233). New York: Springer.
- Banks, D., & Gottfredson, D.C. (2003). The effects of drug treatment and supervision on time to rearrest among drug treatment court participants. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 33(2), 385–412.
- Burke, K., & Leben, S. (2007). Procedural fairness: A key ingredient in public satisfaction. Court Review, 44(1-2), 4-25.
- Carey, S.M., Finigan, M.W., & Pukstas, K. (2008). Exploring the key components of drug courts: A comparative study of 18 adult drug courts on practices, outcomes and costs. Portland, OR: NPC Research. Available athttp://www.npcresearch.com/Files/NIJ_Cross-site_Final_Report_0308.pdf
- Carey, S.M., Mackin, J.R., & Finigan, M.W. (2012). What works? The ten key components of drug court: Research-based best practices. *Drug Court Review*, 8(1), 6–42.
- Carver, C. (2004). Drug testing: A necessary prerequisite for treatment and for crime control. In P. Bean & T. Nemitz (Eds.), *Drug treatment: What works?* (pp. 142–177). New York: Routledge.
- Cary, P. (2004). Urine drug concentrations: The scientific rationale for eliminating the use of drug test levels in drugcourt proceedings. NDCI Drug Court Practitioner Fact Sheet,4(1).
- Cary, P. (2005). The marijuana detection window: Determining the length of time cannabinoids will remain detectable in urine following smoking: A critical review of relevant research and cannabinoid detection guidance for drug courts. *Drug Court Review*, 5(1), 23–58.
- Cary, P. (2011). The fundamentals of drug testing. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 113–138). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. Available at http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146 _NDCI_Benchbook_v6.pdf
- Cary, P. (2014). Designer drugs: What drug court practitioners need to know. NDCI Drug Court Practitioner Fact Sheet, 9(2).
- Castaneto, M.S., Gorelick, D.A., Desrosiers, N.A., Hartman, R.L., Pirard, S., & Huestis, M.A. (2014). Synthetic cannabinoids: Epidemiology, pharmacodynamics, and clinical implications. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence: Online, 144*, 12–41. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.08.005
- Cone, E.J., Bigelow, G.E., Herrmann, E.S., Mitchell, J.M., LoDico, C., Flegel, R., & Vandrey, R. (2014). Nonsmoker exposure to secondhand cannabis smoke. I. Urine screening and confirmation results. *Journal of Analytic Toxicology: Online, 39*(1), 1–12. doi:10.1093/jat/bku116

- Dasgupta, A., Chughtai, O., Hannah, C., David, B., & Wells, A. (2004). Comparison of spot tests with Adultacheck 6 and Intect 7 urine test strips for detecting the presence of adulterants in urine specimens. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 348 (1-2), 19–25.
- Davis, C.G., Doherty, S., & Moser, A.E. (2014). Social desirability and change following substance abuse treatment in male offenders. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 28(3),872–879.
- DuPont, R.L., Goldberger, B.A., & Gold, M.S. (2014). The science and clinical uses of drug testing. In R.K. Ries, D.A. Fiellin, S.C. Miller, & R. Saitz (Eds.), *The ASAM principles of addiction medicine* (5th ed., pp. 1717–1729). Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health.
- DuPont, R.L., & Selavka, C. (2008). Testing to identify recent drug use. In M. Galanter & H.D. Kleber (Eds.), *Textbook of substance abuse treatment* (4th ed., pp. 655–664). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Flango, V.E., & Cheesman, F.L. (2009). The effectiveness of the SCRAM alcohol monitoring device: A preliminary test. *Drug Court Review*, 6(2), 109–134.
- Frazer, M.S. (2006). The impact of the community court model on defendant perceptions of fairness. New York: Center for Court Innovation. Available at http://www.courtinnovation.org/sites/default/files/Procedural Fairness.pdf
- Gallagher, J.R., Nordberg, A., & Kennard, T. (2015). A qualitative study assessing the effectiveness of the key components of a Drug Court. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 33(1), 64–81.
- Gibbs, B.R., & Wakefield, W. (2014). The efficacy of enhanced alcohol use monitoring: An examination of the effects of EtG/EtS screening on participant performance in Drug Court. *Drug Court Review*, 9(1), 1–22.
- Goldkamp, J.S., White, M.D., & Robinson, J.B. (2002). An honest chance: Perspectives on drug courts. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 14(6), 369–372.
- Gottfredson, D.C., Kearley, B.W., Najaka, S.S., & Rocha, C.M. (2007). How drug treatment courts work: An analysis of mediators. *Journal of Research on Crime & Delinquency*, 44(1), 3–35.
- Griffith, J.D., Rowan-Szal, G.A., Roark, R.R., & Simpson, D.D. (2000). Contingency management in outpatient methadone maintenance treatment: A meta-analysis. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 58(1), 55–66.
- Harrell, A., Cavanagh, S., & Roman, J. (1998). Findings from the evaluation of the D.C. Superior Court Drug Intervention Program (Final report). Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- Harrell, A., & Kleiman, M. (2002). Drug testing in criminal justice settings. In C.G. Leukefeld, F.M. Tims & D. Farabee (Eds.), *Treatment of drug offenders: Policies and issues* (pp. 149–171). New York: Springer.
- Harrell, A., & Roman, J. (2001). Reducing drug use and crime among offenders: The impact of graduated sanctions. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 31(1), 207–231.
- Harris, K.M., Griffin, B.A., McCaffrey, D.F., & Morral, A.R. (2008). Inconsistencies in self-reported drug use by adolescents in substance abuse treatment: Implications for outcome and performance measurements. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 34(3), 347–355.
- Harrison, L. (1997). The validity of self-reported drug use in survey research: An overview and critique of research methods. In L. Harrison & A. Hughes (Eds.), *The validity of self-reported drug use: Improving the accuracy of survey estimates* [Research Monograph No. 167] (pp. 17–36). Rockville, MD; National Institute on Drug Abuse.
- Hawken, A., & Kleiman, M. (2009). Managing drug involved probationers with swift and certain sanctions: Evaluating Hawaii's HOPE (NCJRS No. 229023). Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice. Available at http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/229023.pdf
- Heltsley, R., DePriest, A., Black, D.L., Crouch, D.J., Robert, T., Marshall, L.,...Cone, E.J. (2012). Oral fluid drug testing of chronic pain patients. II. Comparison of paired oral fluid and urine specimens. *Journal of the Annals of Toxicology*, 36(2), 75–80. doi:10.1093/jat/bkr019
- Hindin, R., McCusker, J., Vickers-Lahti, M., Bigelow, C., Garfield, F., & Lewis, B. (1994). Radioimmunoassay of hair for determination of cocaine, heroin and marijuana exposure: Comparison with self-report. *Addiction*, 29(6), 771–789.
- Hunt, D.E., Kling, R., Almozlino, Y., Jalbert, S., Chapman, M.T., & Rhodes, W. (2015). Telling the truth about drug use: How much does it matter? *Journal of Drug Issues*, 45(3), 31–329.

- Jones, A.W., & Karlsson, L. (2005). Relation between blood- and urine-amphetamine concentrations in impaired drivers as influenced by urinary pH and creatinine. *Human Experimental Toxicology*, 24(12), 615–622.
- Katz, O.A., Katz, N.B., Mandel, S., & Lessenger, J.E. (2007). Analysis of drug testing results. In J.E. Lessenger & G.F. Roper (Eds.), *Drug Courts: A new approach to treatment and rehabilitation* (pp. 255–262). New York: Springer.
- Kilmer, B., Nicosia, N., Heaton, P., & Midgette, G. (2012). Efficacy of frequent monitoring with swift, certain, and modest sanctions for violations: Insights from South Dakota's 24/7 Sobriety Project. *American Journal of Public Health: Online,* 103(1), e37–e43. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300989
- Kinlock, T.M., Gordon, M.S., Schwartz, R.P., & O'Grady, K.E. (2013). Individual patient and program factors related to prison and community treatment completion in prison-initiated methadone maintenance treatment. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 52(8), 509–528.
- Kirby, K.C., Lamb, R.J., Iguchi, M.Y., Husband, S.D., & Platt, J.J. (1995). Situations occasioning cocaine use and cocaine abstinence strategies. *Addiction*, 90(9), 1241–1252.
- Kleinpeter, C.B., Brocato, J., & Koob, J.J. (2010). Does drug testing deter drug court participants from using drugs or alcohol? *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 49(6), 434–444.
- Law, B., Mason, P.A., Moffat, A.C., King, L.J., & Marks, V. (1984). Passive inhalation of cannabis smoke. *Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmacology*, 36(9), 578–581.
- Magura, S., & Kang, S. (1997). The validity of self-reported cocaine use in two high-risk populations. In L. Harrison & A. Hughes (Eds.), *The validity of self-reported drug use: Improving the accuracy of survey estimates* [Research Monograph No. 167] (pp. 227–246). Rockville, MD; National Institute on Drug Abuse.
- Marlatt, G.A., & Gordon, J.R. (1985). Relapse prevention: Maintenance strategies in the treatment of addictive behaviors. New York: Guilford Press.
- Marlowe, D.B. (2011). Applying incentives and sanctions. In D.B. Marlowe & W.B. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp.139–157). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. *Available at* http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146 NDCI Benchbook v6.pdf
- Marlowe, D.B. (2012). Behavior modification 101 for drug courts: Making the most of incentives and sanctions. *NDCI Drug Court Practitioner Fact Sheet*, 7(3), 1–11.
- Marlowe, D.B., Festinger, D.S., Foltz, C., Lee, P.A., & Patapis, N.S. (2005). Perceived deterrence and outcomes in drugcourt. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 23(2), 183–198.
- Marlowe, D.B., & Kirby, K.C. (1999). Effective use of sanctions in drug courts: Lessons from behavioral research. *National Drug Court Institute Review*, 2(1), 1–31.
- Marlowe, D.B., & Wong, C.J. (2008). Contingency management in adult criminal drug courts. In S.T. Higgins, K. Silverman, & S.H. Heil (Eds.), *Contingency management in substance abuse treatment* (pp. 334–354). New York: Guilford Press.
- Marques, P.H., Jesus, V., Olea, S.A., Vairinhos, V., & Jacinto, C. (2014). The effect of alcohol and drug testing at the workplace on individual's occupational accident risk. *Safety Science*, 68, 108–120. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2014.03.007
- McIntire, R.L., & Lessenger, J.E. (2007). Drug testing scams. In J.E. Lessenger & G.F. Roper (Eds.), *Drug Courts: A new approach to treatment and rehabilitation* (pp. 247–254). New York: Springer.
- McIntire, R.L., Lessenger, J.E., & Roper, G.F. (2007). The drug and alcohol testing process. In J.E. Lessenger & G.F. Roper (Eds.), Drug Courts: A new approach to treatment and rehabilitation (pp. 234–246). New York: Springer.
- Meyer, W. (2011). Constitutional and legal issues in drug courts. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 159–180). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. *Available at* http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146_NDCI_Benchbook_v6.pdf
- Mikkelsen, A.L., & Ash, K.O. (1988). Adulterants causing false negatives in illicit drug testing. *Clinical Chemistry*, 34(11), 2333–2336.
- Morral, A.R., McCaffrey, D.F., & Iguchi, M.Y. (2000). Hardcore drug users claim to be occasional users: Drug use frequency underreporting. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 57(3), 193–202.

- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2006). Principles of drug abuse treatment for criminal justice populations (NIH Pub. No. 06–5316). Bethesda, MD: Author.
- Niedbala, R.S., Kardos, K.W., Fritch, D.F., Kunsman, K.P., Blum, K.A., Newland, G.A., Cone, E.J. (2005). Passive cannabis smoke exposure and oral fluid testing. II. Two studies of extreme cannabis smoke exposure in a motor vehicle. *Journal of Analytical Toxicology*, 29(7), 607–615.
- Nirenberg, T., Longabaugh, R., Baird, J., & Mello, M.J. (2013). Treatment may influence self-report and jeopardize our understanding of outcome. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 74(5), 770–776.
- Peat, M.A. (1988). Analytical and technical aspects of testing for drug abuse: Confirmatory procedures. *Clinical Chemistry*, 34(3), 471–473.
- Perrone, D., Helgesen, R.D., & Fischer, R.G. (2013). United States drug prohibition and legal highs: How drug testing may lead cannabis users to Spice. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 20(3),216–224.
- Peters, R.H., Kremling, J., & Hunt, E. (2015). Accuracy of self-reported drug use among offenders: Findings from the Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring-II Program. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 42(6), 623–643.
- Robinson, J.J., & Jones, J.W. (2000). *Drug testing in a drug court environment: Common issues to address* (NCJ Pub. No. 181103). Washington, DC: Office of Justice Programs, Drug Court Clearinghouse and Technical Assistance Project at American University.
- Rusch, F.R., & Kazdin, A.E. (1981). Toward a methodology of withdrawal designs for the assessment of response maintenance. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 14(2), 131–140.
- Sample, R.H.B., Abbott, L.B., Brunelli, B.A., Clouette, R.E., Johnson, T.D., Predescu, R.D., & Rowland, B.J. (2010). *Positive prevalence rates in drug tests for drugs of abuse in oral-fluid and urine*. Paper presented at the Society of Forensic Toxicologists Annual Meeting, Richmond, VA.
- Saum, C.A., Scarpitti, F.R., Butzin, C.A., Perez, V.W., Jennings, D., & Gray, A.R. (2002). Drug court participants' satisfaction with treatment and the court experience. *Drug Court Review*, 4(1), 39–81.
- Schuler, M.S., Griffin, B.A., Ramchand, R., Almirall, D., & McCaffrey, D.F. (2014). Effectiveness of treatment for adolescent substance use: Is biological drug testing sufficient? *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 75(2), 358–370.
- Schwilke, E.W., Gullberg, R.G., Darwin, W.D., Chiang, C.N., Cadet, J.L., Gorelick, D.A., Huestis, M.A. (2010). Differentiating new cannabis use from residual urinary cannabinoid excretion in chronic, daily cannabis users. *Addiction*, 106(3), 499–506.
- Srebnik, D.S., McDonell, M.G., Ries, R.K., & Andrus, G. (2014). Conflicts among CMHC clinicians over the role of urine drug testing. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(5), 700–701.
- Stitzer, M.L., & Kellogg, S. (2008). Large-scale dissemination efforts in drug abuse treatment clinics. In S.T. Higgins, K. Silverman, & S.H. Heil (Eds.), *Contingency management in substance abuse treatment* (pp. 241–260). New York: Guilford Press.
- Tassiopoulos, K., Bernstein, J., Heeren, T., Levenson, S., Hingson, R., & Bernstein, E. (2004). Hair testing and self-report of cocaine use by heroin users. *Addiction*, 99(4),590–597.
- Tison, J., Nichols, J.L., Casanova-Powell, T., & Chaudhary, N.K. (2015). Comparative study and evaluation of SCRAMuse, recidivism rates, and characteristics (Report No. DOT HS 812 143). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Tsai, S.C., ElSohly, M.A., Dubrovsky, T., Twarowski, B., Towt, J., & Salamonde, S.J. (1998). Determination of five abused drugs in nitrite-adulterated urine by immunoassay and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of the Annals of Toxicology*, 22(6), 474–480.
- Turner, S., Greenwood, P. Fain, T., & Deschenes, E. (1999). Perceptions of drug court: How offenders view ease of program completion, strengths and weaknesses, and the impact on their lives. *National Drug Court Institute Review, 2*(1),61–85.
- Tyler, T.R. (2007). Procedural justice and the courts. Court Review, 44(1-2), 26.
- Wish, E.D., Artigiani, E., Billing, A., Hauser, A., Hemberg. J., Shiplet, M., & DuPont, R.L. (2012). The emerging buprenorphine epidemic in the United States. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 31(1), 3–7.

Idaho Treatment Court Best Practice Standards Volume II

Wish, E.D., Hoffman, J.A., & Nemes, S. (1997). The validity of self-reports of drug use at treatment admission and at follow-up: Comparisons with urinalysis and hair assays. In L. Harrison & A. Hughes (Eds.), *The validity of self-reported drug use: Improving the accuracy of survey estimates* [Research Monograph No. 167] (pp. 200–226). Rockville, MD; National Institute on Drug Abuse.

Wolfer, L. (2006). Graduates speak: A qualitative exploration of drug court graduates' views of the strengths and weaknesses of the program. *Contemporary Drug Problems*, 33(2), 303–320.

VII. Multidisciplinary Team

A dedicated multidisciplinary team of professionals manages the day-to-day operations of the Treatment Court, including reviewing participant progress during pre-court staff meetings and status hearings, contributing observations and recommendations within team members' respective areas of expertise, and delivering or overseeing the delivery of legal, treatment and supervision services.

A. Team Composition

The Treatment Court team comprises representatives from all partner agencies involved in the creation of the program, including but not limited to a judge or judicial officer, program coordinator, prosecutor, defense counsel representative, treatment representative, community supervision officer, and law enforcement officer.

B. Pre-Court Staff Meetings

Team members consistently attend pre-court staff meetings to review participant progress, determine appropriate actions to improve outcomes, and prepare for status hearings in court. Pre-court staff meetings are presumptively closed to participants and the public unless the court has a good reason for a participant to attend discussions related to that participant's case.

C. Sharing Information

Team members share information as necessary to appraise participants' progress in treatment and compliance with the conditions of the Treatment Court. Partner agencies execute memoranda of understanding (MOUs) specifying what information will be shared among team members. Participants provide voluntary and informed consent permitting team members to share specified data elements relating to participants' progress in treatment and compliance with program requirements. Defense attorneys make it clear to participants and other team members whether they will share communications from participants with the Treatment Court team.

D. Team Communication and Decision Making

Team members contribute relevant insights, observations, and recommendations based on their professional knowledge, training, and experience. The judge considers the perspectives of all team members before making decisions that affect participants' welfare or liberty interests and explains the rationale for such decisions to team members and participants [see Standard II, Roles and Responsibilities of the Judge].

E. Status Hearings

Team members attend status hearings on a consistent basis. During the status hearings, team members contribute relevant information or recommendations when requested by the judge or as necessary to improve outcomes or protect participants' legal interests.

F. Team Training

Before starting a Treatment Court, team members attend a formal pre-implementation training to learn from expert faculty about best practices in Treatment Courts and develop fair and effective policies and procedures for the program. Subsequently, team members attend continuing education workshops on at least an annual basis to gain up-to-date knowledge about best practices on topics including substance use disorder and mental health

treatment, complementary treatment and social services, behavior modification, community supervision, drug and alcohol testing, team decision making, and constitutional and legal issues in Treatment Courts. New staff hires receive a formal orientation training on the Treatment Court model and best practices in Treatment Courts as soon as practicable after assuming their position and attend annual continuing education workshops thereafter.

COMMENTARY

The Drug Court team is a multidisciplinary group of professionals responsible for administering the day-to-day operations of a Drug Court, including reviewing participant progress during pre-court staff meetings and status hearings, contributing observations and recommendations within team members' respective areas of expertise, and delivering or overseeing the delivery of legal, treatment, and supervision services (Hardin & Fox, 2011). Some Drug Courts may have additional governing bodies such as Steering Committees that are not involved in the daily operations of the program, but provide oversight on policies and procedures, negotiate MOUs between partner agencies, garner political and community support for the Drug Court, or engage in fundraising. Researchers have examined the influence of the multidisciplinary Drug Court team on participant outcomes but have not addressed the influence of other governing bodies.

A. Team Composition

Studies reveal the composition of the Drug Court team has a substantial influence on outcomes. Drug Courts produce significantly greater reductions in criminal recidivism and are significantly more cost- effective when the following professionals are dedicated members of the Drug Court team and participate regularly in precourt staff meetings and status hearings (Carey et al., 2008, 2012; Cissner et al., 2013; Rossman etal., 2011; Shaffer, 2010):

- Judge—Typically a trial court judge leads the Drug Court team; however, in some jurisdictions a nonjudicial officer such as a magistrate or commissioner may preside over the Drug Court. Nonjudicial officers usually report directly to a judge and require judicial authorization for actions that affect participants' liberty interests such as jail sanctions or discharge from the program. No study has compared outcomes between judges and nonjudicial officers.
- Program Coordinator—Typically a court administrator or clerk serves as the coordinator for the Drug Court program; however, some Drug Courts may employ a senior probation officer, case manager, or clinician as the coordinator. Among many other duties, the coordinator is responsible for maintaining accurate and timely records and documentation for the program, overseeing fiscal and contractual obligations, facilitating communication between team members and partner agencies, ensuring policies and procedures are followed, overseeing collection of performance and outcome data, scheduling court sessions and staff meetings, and orienting new hires.
- *Prosecutor*—Typically an assistant district attorney serves on the team. Among other duties, the prosecutor advocates on behalf of public safety, victim interests, and holding participants accountable for meeting their obligations in the program. The prosecutor may also help to resolve other pending legal cases that impact participants' legal status or eligibility for Drug Court.
- Defense Attorney—Typically an assistant public defender or private defense attorney specializing in Drug Court cases serves on the team. Among other duties, the defense attorney ensures participants' constitutional rights are protected and advocates for participants' stated legal interests. Defendants are usually represented by a public defender or private defense attorney in proceedings leading up to their entry into Drug Court. After entry, participants may retain their previous defense counsel, provide informed consent to be represented by a defense representative serving on the Drug Court team, or consent to be represented jointly by private defense counsel and the defense representative. In cases of joint representation, the defense representative typically handles most day-to-day issues relating to Drug Court participation, but private counsel may step in if the participant faces a potential jail sanction or discharge from the program (Freeman-Wilson et al., 2003; Tobin, 2012).

In postconviction Drug Courts, participation in the program is a condition of probation or part of a criminal sentence. Ordinarily, participants are not entitled to defense representation at the postconviction stage unless they face a potential jail sanction or revocation of probation (Meyer,

2011a). Nevertheless, postconviction Drug Courts should include a defense representative on their team because studies indicate defense involvement improves outcomes significantly (Carey et al., 2012; Cissner et al., 2013; National Association of Drug Court Professionals [NADCP], 2009). Evidence suggests participants may be more likely to perceive Drug Court procedures as fair when a dedicated defense attorney represents their interests in team meetings and status hearings (Frazer, 2006), and greater perceptions of fairness are consistently associated with better outcomes in Drug Courts and other problem-solving courts (Berman & Gold, 2012; Burke, 2010; Gottfredson et al., 2007; Rossman et al., 2011).

Some Drug Courts require participants to waive defense representation as a condition of entry. Although no case has addressed this issue squarely in the context of Drug Court, the weight of legal authority suggests defendants and probationers are entitled to withdraw such waivers and reassert their right to counsel at critical stages in the proceedings such as when they face a potential jail sanction or probation revocation (McKaskle v. Wiggins, 1984; Menefield v. Borg, 1989; Robinson v. Ignacio, 2004; State v. Pitts, 2014). Regardless of the legality of such waivers, defense representation should be encouraged rather than discouraged in Drug Courts because doing so is associated with significantly better outcomes and ensures participants' due process rights are protected (Hora & Stalcup, 2008; NADCP, 2009).

- Community Supervision Officer—Typically a probation officer or pretrial services officer serves on the team; however, some Drug Courts may rely on law enforcement or specially trained case managers or social service professionals to provide community supervision. Duties of the community supervision officer may include performing drug and alcohol testing, conducting home or employment visits, enforcing curfews and travel restrictions, and delivering cognitive-behavioral interventions designed to improve participants' problem-solving skills and alter dysfunctional criminal-thinking patterns (Harberts, 2011).
- Treatment Representative—Typically an addiction counselor, social worker, psychologist, or clinical case manager serves on the team. In many Drug Courts, participants can be referred to multiple treatment agencies or providers for substance use disorder treatment and other complementary services such as mental health counseling or vocational rehabilitation. Because it is unwieldy to have multiple providers attend pre-court staff meetings and status hearings, many Drug Courts will designate one or two treatment professionals to serve as treatment representatives on the Drug Court team (Carey et al., 2012). The treatment representatives receive clinical information from programs treating Drug Court participants, report that information to the Drug Court team, and contribute clinical knowledge and expertise during team deliberations.
- Law Enforcement Officer—Typically a police officer, deputy sheriff, highway patrol officer, or jail official serves on the team. Law enforcement is often the eyes and ears of Drug Court on the street, observing participant behavior and interacting with participants in the community. Law enforcement may also assist with home and employment visits, and serves as a liaison between the Drug Court and the police department, sheriff's office, jail, and correctional system.

Drug Courts may include other community representatives on their team as well, such as peer mentors, vocational advisors, or sponsors from the self-help recovery community. Studies have not examined the impact of including such persons on the Drug Court team; however, anecdotal reports suggest this practice can enhance team decision making and effectiveness (Taylor, 2014). As a condition of federal grant funding and funding from many states, Drug Courts may also be required to include an evaluator on their team beginning in the planning stages for the program and continuing during implementation. This practice helps to ensure Drug Courts collect reliable performance data to report to grant-making authorities and is generally advisable for all Drug Courts to ensure good-quality program monitoring and evaluation [see Standard IX, Monitoring and Evaluation]. Finally, Drug Courts may be advised to include a nurse or physician on their team if they treat substantial numbers of participants requiring medication-assisted treatment or suffering from co-occurring medical or mental health disorders.

B. Pre-Court Staff Meetings

The Drug Court model requires Drug Courts to hold pre-court staff meetings—commonly referred to as staffings or case reviews—to review participant progress, develop a plan to improve outcomes, and prepare

for status hearings in court (Hardin & Fox, 2011; NADCP, 1997; Roper & Lessenger, 2007). Not every participant is discussed in every meeting; however, staffings are held frequently enough (typically weekly or at the same frequency as status hearings) to ensure the team has an opportunity to consider the needs of each case.

Consistent attendance by all team members at staffings is associated with significantly better outcomes (Carey et al., 2012; Cissner et al., 2013; Rossman et al., 2011; Shaffer, 2010). A multisite study of approximately seventy Drug Courts found that programs were 50% more effective at reducing recidivism when all team members—the judge, prosecutor, defense representative, program coordinator, treatment representative, law-enforcement representative, and community supervision officer—attended staffings on a consistent basis (Carey et al., 2008, 2012). Drug Courts were nearly twice as cost-effective when defense counsel attended staffings consistently, and were more than twice as effective at reducing recidivism when the program coordinator, treatment representative, and law enforcement representative attended staffings consistently (Carey et al., 2012).

In most Drug Courts, staffings are presumptively closed. Discussions are not transcribed or recorded and the meeting is not open to the public or to participants unless the court has a good reason to allow a participant to attend discussions related to his or her case. Few appellate opinions have addressed the constitutionality or legality of closing staffings. In a recent opinion, the Washington State Supreme Court— which traditionally holds a very dim view of off-the-record proceedings—ruled that staffings may be presumptively closed at the discretion of the Drug Court judge (State of Washington v. Sykes, 2014). The Court analogized staffings to pre-court conferences in which attorneys commonly meet with the judge in chambers to clarify what legal issues are under contention, determine which facts are in dispute, and address other practical or collateral matters necessary to achieve a fair and efficient resolution of the case, such as scheduling witnesses or issuing discovery orders. In line with this reasoning, staffings may be closed so long as no final decisions are reached concerning disputed facts or legal issues in the case, and the judge recites in open court what decisions, if any, were made during the staffing. A closed staffing may not result in a binding order or factual conclusion related to a contested matter (Meyer, 2011a). Contested matters must be addressed and resolved in open court during status hearings or related due process hearings such as termination hearings or probation violation hearings.

Studies have not determined whether closed staffings produce more favorable outcomes than open staffings. The rationale for closing staffings derives largely from empirical studies and ethical analyses conducted in the context of psychotherapy progress notes and case conferences. For example, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 grants broad access for patients to their health records, yet provides a lone exception for psychotherapy progress notes (45 C.F.R §§ 164.508(a)(2) & 164.524; U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services [U.S. DHHS], 2003; Wooten v. Duane Reade, 2009). Psychotherapy notes receive heightened protection against patient access, in part, because they often contain sensitive information provided by collateral sources, such as family members and friends (U.S. DHHS, 2003). If participants could gain access to this information, collateral sources might not be forthright in providing sensitive information about matters which are critical for delivering effective treatment, such as providing accurate histories of participants' substance use patterns, criminality, or related conduct (Stasiewicz et al., 2008). Studies have also reported that patients can be harmed psychologically by receiving unfettered access to their therapists' diagnostic impressions and conclusions (Lajeunesse & Lussier, 2010; Ross & Lin, 2003; Sergeant, 1986; Short, 1986; Westin, 1977). Sensitive clinical information must be communicated to patients in a cautious, empathic, and understandable manner to avoid causing psychological distress, embarrassment, confusion, or other untoward reactions (McFarlane et al., 1980; Miller et al., 1987).

Participant attendance at staffings might also inhibit free flow of information among staff, which is necessary to achieve productive aims. Treatment representatives, for example, may be reluctant to discuss their concerns about a participant's prognosis in front of the participant. Probation officers might similarly be reticent to recommend sanctions for participants in response to infractions. It is one thing for sanctions to be imposed by the team as a whole, but quite another for an individual staff member to be identified as the person who first proposed the sanction. Closed staffings allow team members to freely consider alternative courses of action that may or may not be adopted ultimately by the team.

Although staffings are presumptively closed, the judge and team may conclude they have a good reason for a participant to attend discussions related to that participant's case. For example, the team might wish to discuss highly sensitive matters with a participant in private, such as a history of childhood sexual abuse or positive

HIV test result. Drug Courts are encouraged to include participants in staffings when clinically indicated or necessary to protect a participant from serious harm resulting from public disclosure of highly sensitive treatment information.

C. Sharing Information

Participants and staff rate communication among team members as one of the most important factors for success in Drug Courts (Frazer, 2006; Gallagher et al., 2015; Lloyd et al., 2014). Participants complain frequently that they are forced to repeat the same information to different professionals and to comply with excessive and inconsistent mandates stemming from different agencies (Goldkamp et al., 2002; Saum et al., 2002; Turner et al., 1999). Ongoing communication among staff ensures participants receive consistent messages, reduces unwarranted burdens on participants, and prevents participants from falling through the cracks or eluding responsibility for their actions by providing different information selectively to different team members.

Contrary to some misconceptions, the HIPAA and other applicable confidentiality statutes (e.g., Confidentiality of Substance Abuse Patient Records, 42 C.F.R. Part 2) do not prohibit treatment professionals or criminal justice professionals from sharing information related to substance use and mental health treatment (Matz, 2014; Meyer, 2011b). Rather, these statutes control how and under what circumstances such information may be disclosed (U.S. DHHS, 2003). Treatment professionals are generally permitted to share confidential treatment information with criminal justice professionals pursuant to a voluntary, informed, and competent waiver of a patient's confidentiality and privacy rights (45 C.F.R.§164.502(a)) or pursuant to a court order (45 C.F.R. §164.512(e)).

The scope of the disclosure must be limited to the minimum information necessary to achieve the intended aims of the disclosure (45 C.F.R. §§164.502(b) & 164.514(d)). In Drug Courts, team members may ordinarily share information pursuant to a valid waiver to the degree necessary to ensure that participants are progressing adequately in treatment and complying with other conditions of the program (Meyer, 2011b). At a minimum, the following data elements are required by all Drug Court team members to appraise participant progress and compliance or noncompliance with the conditions of Drug Court:

- Assessment results pertaining to a participant's eligibility for Drug Court and treatment and supervision needs
- Attendance at scheduled appointments
- Drug and alcohol test results, including efforts to defraud or invalidate said tests
- Attainment of treatment plan goals, such as completion of a required counseling regimen
- Evidence of symptom resolution, such as reductions in drug cravings or withdrawal symptoms
- Evidence of treatment-related attitudinal improvements, such as increased insight or motivation for change
- Attainment of Drug Court phase requirements, such as obtaining and maintaining employment or enrolling in an educational program
- Compliance with electronic monitoring, home curfews, travel limitations, and geographic or association restrictions
- Adherence to legally prescribed and authorized medically assisted treatments
- Procurement of unauthorized prescriptions for addictive or intoxicating medications
- Commission of or arrests for new offenses
- Menacing, threatening, or disruptive behavior directed at staff members, participants or other persons

To be legally valid, an informed consent document must specify what data elements may be shared, with whom, and for what authorized period of time (Meyer, 2011b). Therefore, the above data elements and any other information that may be shared among team members should be listed in releases of information or confidentiality waivers executed by Drug Court participants (Meyer, 2011b). If the scope of the disclosure is not enumerated clearly, then the waiver may not be knowing or informed—and thus may be legally invalid. Consent documents must also indicate which professionals are authorized to receive the information, what steps participants must take to revoke consent, and when the consent expires. Expiration of consent maybe predicated upon a specific event, such as discharge from Drug Court, as opposed to a specific date or time frame (Meyer, 2011b). Finally, recipients of confidential information must be put on notice that they are only permitted to redisclose information to additional parties under carefully specified and approved conditions. MOUs between partner agencies—referred to as business associate contracts pursuant to HIPAA—must state

clearly that confidential information may not be redisclosed to additional parties outside of the Drug Court without the express written permission of the participant and may not be used to prosecute new charges against the participant.

Assuming a participant has executed a valid waiver of his or her privacy and confidentiality rights, Drug Court team members are permitted, and indeed may be required, to share covered information in the course of performing their professional duties. Confidentiality and privacy rights belong to the participant, not to staff, and may be waived freely and voluntarily in exchange for receiving anticipated benefits, such as gaining access to effective treatment or avoiding a criminal record or jail sentence (Melton et al., 2007).

Failing to abide by a valid confidentiality waiver could, under some circumstances, be a breach of a staff person's professional responsibilities to the participant.

Staff persons also have ethical obligations to other Drug Court team members. If a staff person knowingly withholds relevant information about a participant from other team members, this omission could inadvertently interfere with the participant's treatment goals, endanger public safety, or undermine the functioning of the Drug Court team. All agencies involved in the administration of a Drug Court should, therefore, execute MOUs specifying what data elements will be shared among team members (Harden & Fox, 2011). The data elements listed above might be included in such MOUs to clarify the obligations of each professional on the team. If a staff person questions the validity or legality of a consent waiver, that staff person should raise this concern with the Drug Court team and make it clear that he or she may withhold relevant progress information until the matter is resolved. This course of action puts the Drug Court team on notice that important information may not be forthcoming and reduces the likelihood that mistaken actions will be taken based on erroneous or incomplete information.

Controversy surrounds the question of whether defense representatives should report infractions by participants to the Drug Court team. In most instances, infractions come to the attention of the team from sources other than defense counsel, such as positive drug tests or progress reports from treatment providers or probation officers. In some instances, however, participants may self-disclose infractions to defense representatives which would otherwise go undetected by the program.

Some defense experts advise against disclosing such communications because doing so may violate the attorney's ethical duty to advocate for the participant's stated legal interests, which are to be distinguished from the participant's best interests (Boldt, 1998; National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers [NACDL], 2009). Other defense experts take the contrary position that withholding such information may undermine the defense representative's trustworthiness and credibility with the team. If team members know or suspect that defense counsel is shielding important information from them, they may discount recommendations from that defense expert as one-sided or nonobjective or may withhold information of their own (Tobin, 2012). In the absence of empirical evidence or legal precedent to guide the decision, defense representatives should make clear their position and the rationale for that position to participants and team members from the outset of each case (Freeman-Wilson et al., 2003). Participants have a right to know whether some confidences shared with defense representatives may be disclosed to other staff members, and team members have a right to know whether some information may not be available to them for decision making.

D. Team Communication and Decision Making

Before the advent of Drug Courts, studies of courtroom workgroups raised concerns about relying on multidisciplinary teams to manage criminal and civil cases. In response to overwhelming court dockets in the 1980s, some jurisdictions appointed teams of professionals—commonly including a judge, defense attorney, prosecutor, court clerk, probation officer, and bailiff—to process certain types of cases more efficiently, such as drug possession cases and child maltreatment cases. Observational studies revealed these workgroups tended to routinize their procedures to speed case processing, often at the expense of applying evidence-based practices or adapting dispositions to the needs and risk levels of litigants (Haynes et al., 2010; Knepper & Barton, 1997; Lipetz, 1980). Teaming up as a group did not necessarily improve outcomes and in some cases may have undermined litigants' due process rights. Drug Courts must not, in the interest of expediency, allow assembly-line procedures or groupthink mindsets to interfere with their adherence to due process and best practices.

Drug Courts are properly characterized as nonadversarial programs, meaning participants waive some, but not all, adversarial trial rights as a condition of entry, including the right to a speedy trial and to refuse to provide

self-incriminating information (Hora & Stalcup, 2008; NADCP, 1997). Moreover, unlike traditional adversarial proceedings, the Drug Court judge speaks directly to participants rather than through legal counsel and takes an active role in supervising cases. The term nonadversarial does not, however, imply that team members relinquish their professional roles or responsibilities (Holland, 2010; Hora & Stalcup, 2008). Prosecutors continue to advocate on behalf of public safety, victim interests, and participant accountability; defense counsel continue to advocate for participants' legal rights; and treatment providers continue to advocate for effective and humane treatment (Freeman-Wilson et al., 2003; Holland, 2010; Tobin, 2012). In other words, the term nonadversarial does not have the same meaning as nonadvocacy. The principal distinction in Drug Courts is that advocacy occurs primarily in staffings as opposed to court hearings, reserving the greater share of court time for intervening with participants rather than arbitrating uncontested facts or legal issues (Christie, 2014; Portillo et al., 2013).

How Drug Court teams make decisions in this nonadversarial climate has constitutional implications. Due process and judicial ethics require Drug Court judges to exercise independent discretion when resolving factual controversies, ordering conditions of treatment and supervision, and administering sanctions and incentives that affect participants' liberty interests (Hora & Stalcup, 2008; Meyer, 2011c; Meyer & Tauber, 2011). The judge may not delegate these decisions to the Drug Court team or acquiesce to majority rule [see Standard II, Roles and Responsibilities of the Judge]. The judge must, however, consider arguments from all sides of a controversy (typically from the defense and prosecution) before rendering a decision and must hear evidence from scientific experts if the subject matter of the controversy is beyond the common knowledge of laypersons (Hora & Stalcup, 2008; Meyer, 2011a). Information relating to addiction science and substance use disorder treatment is typically beyond the knowledge of laypersons; therefore, this information must usually be introduced or explained by a qualified expert (e.g., Federal Rule of Evidence 702, 2015).

In Drug Courts, the multidisciplinary team serves essentially as a panel of "expert witnesses" providing legal and scientific expertise for the judge (Bean, 2002; Hora & Stalcup, 2008). Team members have an obligation to contribute relevant observations and insights and to offer suitable recommendations based on their professional knowledge, experience, and training. A team member who remains silent in staffings or defers habitually to group consensus is violating his or her professional obligations to participants and to the administration of justice (Freeman-Wilson et al., 2003; Holland, 2010; NACDL, 2009; Tobin, 2012). The judge may ultimately overrule a team member's assertions, but this fact does not absolve the team member from articulating and justifying an informed opinion.

Studies have identified effective communication strategies that can enhance team decision making in Drug Courts. For example, researchers have improved team decision-making skills in several Drug Courts using the NIATx (Network for the Improvement of Addiction Treatment) Organizational Improvement Model (Melnick et al., 2014a, 2014b; Wexler et al., 2012). The NIATx model seeks to create a climate of psychological safety by teaching team members to articulate divergent views in a manner that is likely to be heeded by fellow team members. Examples of NIATx techniques include the following (Melnick et al., 2014b):

- Avoid Ego-Centered Communications—Focus statements on the substantive issue at hand rather than attempting to be "right" or win an argument.
- Avoid Downward Communication—Ensure that all team members, regardless of status or authority, have an equal opportunity to speak.
- *Practice Attentive Listening*—Hear all aspects of a team member's statements before thinking about or forming a response.
- Reinforce Others' Statements—Express appreciation for a team member's input before making counterarguments or changing the subject.
- Find Common Ground—Acknowledge areas of agreement among team members before making counterarguments.
- Reframe Statements Neutrally—Restate a position in a manner that minimizes counterproductive affect such as anger or frustration.
- Ensure Inclusiveness—Ensure that all team members weigh in on subjects within their area of expertise or experience.
- Show Understanding—Restate others' positions to demonstrate accurate understanding.
- Engage in Empathic Listening—Imagine oneself in other team members' positions to understand issues from their perspective.
- Sum Up—The judge should recap the various arguments and positions, assure the team that all

positions were considered carefully, and explain his or her rationale for reaching a conclusion or tabling the matter pending further information.

Preliminary studies in more than ten Drug Courts found that training Drug Court teams on the NIATx model enhanced team communication skills (Melnick et al., 2014b), increased staff job satisfaction (Melnick et al., 2014a), and improved program efficiency, leading to higher admission rates, shorter wait times for treatment, and reduced no-show rates at scheduled appointments (Wexler et al., 2012).

E. Status Hearings

Status hearings are critical components of Drug Courts (NADCP, 1997). In status hearings, participants interact with all team members in the same proceeding, the judge speaks personally with each participant, and incentives, sanctions and treatment adjustments are administered in accordance with participants' progress or lack thereof in treatment (Roper & Lessenger, 2007). A substantial body of research establishes convincingly that better outcomes are achieved when status hearings are held biweekly (every two weeks) or more frequently at least during the first phase of Drug Court (Carey et al., 2012; Cissner et al., 2013; Festinger et al., 2002; Jones, 2013; Marlowe et al., 2006, 2007; Mitchell et al., 2012; Rossman et al., 2011).

Studies further reveal that consistent attendance by all team members at status hearings is associated with significantly better outcomes. A study of approximately seventy Drug Courts found that programs were 35% more cost-effective and 35% more effective at reducing crime when all team members—the judge, program coordinator, defense representative, prosecutor, probation officer, treatment representative, and law enforcement representative—attended status hearings regularly (Carey et al., 2012). When a treatment representative attended status hearings regularly, Drug Courts were nearly twice as effective at reducing crime and 80% more cost-effective, and when a representative from law enforcement attended hearings regularly, Drug Courts were over 80% more effective at reducing crime and 60% more cost-effective (Carey et al., 2008, 2012).

Although the judge typically controls most of the interactions during status hearings, observational studies reveal that other team members play an important role as well. Team members may report on participant progress, share their observations of participants, fill in missing information for the judge, offer praise and encouragement to participants, challenge inaccurate statements by participants, or make recommendations for suitable consequences to impose (Baker, 2013; Christie, 2014; Mackinem & Higgins, 2008; McPherson & Sauder, 2013; Portillo et al., 2013; Roper & Lessenger, 2007). Colloquially referred to as courtroom as theater, these interactions are often planned in advance during staffings to illustrate treatment-relevant concepts, prevent participants from fomenting disagreement among staff members, and demonstrate unity of purpose for the team as a whole (Satel, 1998; Tauber, 2011). In focus groups, participants rated interactions among staff during court sessions as informative and helpful to improving their performance (Goldkamp et al., 2002).

F. Team Training

Drug Courts represent a fundamentally new way of treating persons charged with drug-related offenses (Roper & Lessenger, 2007). Specialized knowledge and skills are required to implement these multifaceted programs effectively (Carey et al., 2012; Shaffer, 2010; Van Wormer, 2010). To be successful in their new roles, staff members require at least a journeyman's knowledge of best practices in a wide range of areas, including substance use disorder and mental health treatment, complementary treatment and social services, behavior modification, community supervision, and drug and alcohol testing. Staff must also learn to perform their duties in a multidisciplinary environment, consistent with constitutional due process and the ethical mandates of their respective professions. These skills and knowledge sets are not taught in traditional law school, graduate school, or most continuing education programs (Berman & Feinblatt, 2005; Holland, 2010). Ongoing specialized training and supervision are needed for staff to achieve the goals of Drug Court and conduct themselves in an ethical, professional, and effective manner.

Preimplementation Trainings—In preimplementation trainings, staff meet for several days as a team to, among other things, develop a mission statement and goals and objectives for their program, learn from expert faculty about best practices in Drug Courts, and develop effective policies and procedures to govern their day-to-day operations (Hardin & Fox, 2011). A multisite study found that Drug Courts were nearly two and a half times more cost-effective and over 50% more effective at reducing recidivism when the teams participated in formal training prior to implementation (Carey et al., 2008, 2012). Drug Courts that did not receive preimplementation training produced outcomes that were negligibly different from traditional criminal justice

approaches (Carey et al., 2008).

Continuing Education Workshops—Continuing education workshops are commonly delivered as part of national, regional, or state Drug Court training conferences or in stand-alone seminars. These workshops provide experienced Drug Court professionals with up-to-date knowledge about new research findings on best practices in Drug Courts. Studies consistently find that annual attendance by staff at training workshops is associated with significantly better outcomes. A multisite study involving more than sixty Drug Courts found that annual attendance at training conferences was the greatest predictor of program effectiveness (Shaffer, 2006, 2010). Another large-scale study found that regular participation in continuing education workshops was the greatest predictor of a program's adherence to the Drug Court model (Van Wormer, 2010). After taking continuing education into account, no other variable was independently or incrementally associated with adherence to the Drug Court model. This finding suggests that adherence to best practices may be mediated primarily through staff participation in continuing education workshops. The same study determined that regular attendance in continuing education workshops was also associated with better collaboration among Drug Court team members, increased job satisfaction by staff, greater perceived benefits of Drug Court, greater optimism about the effects of substance use disorder treatment, and better perceived coordination between the criminal justice system and other social service and treatment systems (Van Wormer, 2010).

Tutorials for New Staff—Within five years, 30% to 60% of Drug Courts experience substantial turnover in key staff positions (Van Wormer, 2010). The highest turnover rates, commonly exceeding 50%, are among substance use disorder and mental health treatment providers (Lutze & Van Wormer, 2007; McLellan et al., 2003; Taxman & Bouffard, 2003; Van Wormer, 2010). Evidence further reveals that staff turnover correlates significantly with downward drift in the quality of the services provided, meaning that services diverge increasingly from the Drug Court model as more staff positions turn over (Van Wormer, 2010).

Research has determined that Drug Courts are more effective when they provide introductory tutorials for new hires. A multisite study of approximately seventy Drug Courts found that programs were over 50% more effective at reducing recidivism when they routinely provided formal orientation training for new staff (Carey et al., 2012). Typically, the tutorials provide a "Reader's Digest" orientation to the Ten Key Components of Drug Courts (NADCP, 1997) and a synopsis of best practices associated with each component. The tutorials are not intended to take the place of formal continuing education workshops, but serve rather as a stopgap measure to prevent acute disruption in services and degradation of outcomes. To maintain effective outcomes over time, recent hires should attend formal training workshops as soon as practicable after assuming their new positions. Given the powerful influence of staff training on Drug Court outcomes (Carey et al., 2012; Shaffer, 2006, 2010; Van Wormer, 2010), a firm commitment to ongoing professional education is key to maintaining the success and integrity of Drug Courts.

REFERENCES

- Baker, K.M. (2013). Decision making in a hybrid organization: A case study of a southwestern drug court treatment program. *Law and Social Inquiry*, 38(1), 27–54.
- Bean, P. (2002). Drug courts, the judge, and the rehabilitative ideal. In J.L. Nolan (Ed.), *Drug courts in theory and in practice* (pp. 235–245). New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Berman, G., & Feinblatt, J. (2005). Good courts: The case for problem-solving justice. New York: New Press.
- Berman, G., & Gold, E. (2012). Procedural justice from the bench: How judges can improve the effectiveness of criminal courts. *Judges' Journal*, *51*(2),20–22.
- Boldt, R.C. (1998). Rehabilitative punishment and the Drug Treatment Court movement. Washington University Law Review, 76(4), 1205–1306.
- Burke, K.S. (2010). Just what made drug courts successful? New England Journal on Criminal & Civil Confinement, 36(1), 39–58
- Carey, S.M., Finigan, M.W., & Pukstas, K. (2008). Exploring the key components of drug courts: A comparative study of 18 adult drug courts on practices, outcomes and costs. Portland, OR: NPC Research.

- Carey, S.M., Mackin, J.R., & Finigan, M.W. (2012). What works? The ten key components of drug court: Research-based best practices. *Drug Court Review*, 8(1), 6–42.
- Christie, N.V. (2014, November 24). Understanding the role of cross-sector collaborations on the success of Florida's drug courts. *Criminal Justice Policy Review: Online*. doi:10.1177/0887403414559044
- Cissner, A., Rempel, M., Franklin, A.W., Roman, J.K., Bieler, S., Cohen, R., & Cadoret, C.R. (2013). A statewide evaluation of New York's adult drug courts: Identifying which policies work best. New York: Center for Court Innovation.
- FederalEvidence.com. (2015). Federal Rule of Evidence 2015. Arlington, VA: Author. *Available at* http://federalevidence.com/downloads/rules.of.evidence.pdf
- Festinger, D.S., Marlowe, D.B., Lee, P.A., Kirby, K.C., Bovasso, G., & McLellan, A.T. (2002). Status hearings in drug court: When more is less and less is more. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 68(2), 151–157.
- Frazer, M.S. (2006). The impact of the community court model on defendant perceptions of fairness: A case study at the Red Hook Community Justice Center. New York: Center for Court Innovation.
- Freeman-Wilson, K., Sullivan, R., & Weinstein, S.P. (2003). *Critical issues for defense attorneys in drug court* [Monograph Series No. 4]. Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- Gallagher, J.R., Nordberg, A., & Kennard, T. (2015). A qualitative study assessing the effectiveness of the key components of a drug court. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 33(1),64–81.
- Goldkamp, J.S., White, M.D., & Robinson, J.B. (2002). An honest chance: Perspectives on drug courts. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 14(6,) 369–372.
- Gottfredson, D.C., Kearley, B.W., Najaka, S.S., & Rocha, C.M. (2007). How drug treatment courts work: An analysis of mediators. *Journal of Research on Crime & Delinquency*, 44(1), 3–35.
- Harberts, H. (2011). Community supervision. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), The drug court judicial benchbook (pp. 97–111). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. Available at http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146
 NDCI Benchbook v6.pdf
- Hardin, C., & Fox, C. (2011). Getting started. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), The drug court judicial benchbook (pp. 19–43). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. Available athttp://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146
 NDCI Benchbook v6.pdf
- Haynes, S.H., Ruback, B., & Cusick, G.R. (2010). Courtroom workgroups and sentencing: The effects of similarity, proximity, and stability. *Crime & Delinquency*, 56(1), 126–161.
- Holland, P. (2010). Lawyering and learning in problem-solving courts. Washington University Journal of Law and Policy, 34(1), 185–238.
- Hora, P.F., & Stalcup, T. (2008). Drug Treatment Courts in the twenty-first century: The evolution of the revolution in problem solving courts. *Georgia Law Review*, 42(3), 717–811.
- Jones, C. (2013). Early-phase outcomes from a randomized trial of intensive judicial supervision in an Australian drug court. *Criminal Justice & Behavior*, 40(4), 453–468.
- Knepper, P.E., & Barton, S.M. (1997). The effect of courtroom dynamics on child maltreatment proceedings. *Social Service Review*, 71(2), 288–308.
- Lajeunesse, R.C., & Lussier, M.T. (2010). Therapeutic privilege: Between the ethics of lying and the practice of truth. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 36(6), 353–357.
- Lipetz, M.J. (1980). Routine and deviations: The strength of the courtroom workgroup in a misdemeanor court. *International Journal of the Sociology of Law*, 8(1),47–60.
- Lloyd, M.H., Johnson, T., & Brook, J. (2014). Illuminating the black box from within: Stakeholder perspectives on family drug court best practices. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions*, 14(4),378–401.
- Lutze, F.E., & Van Wormer, J.G. (2007). The nexus between drug and alcohol treatment program integrity and drug court effectiveness: Policy recommendations for pursuing success. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 18(3),226–245.

- Mackinem, M.B., & Higgins, P. (2008). Drug courts: Constructing the moral identity of drug offenders. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Marlowe, D.B., Festinger, D.S., Dugosh, K.L., Lee, P.A., & Benasutti, K.M. (2007). Adapting judicial supervision to the risk level of drug offenders: Discharge and six-month outcomes from a prospective matching study. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 88(Suppl. 2) S4–S13.
- Marlowe, D.B., Festinger, D.S., Lee, P.A., Dugosh, K.L., & Benasutti, K.M. (2006). Matching judicial supervision to clients' risk status in drug court. *Crime & Delinquency*, 52(1), 52–76.
- Matz, A.K. (2014). A note on HIPAA and 42 CFR Part 2: Dispelling the myths about justice-involved information sharing. Washington, DC: Council of State Governments & American Probation and Parole Association.
- McFarlane, W.J., Bowman, R.G., & MacInnes, M. (1980). Patient access to hospital records: A pilot project. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 25(6), 497.
- McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L.Ed.2d 122 (1984).
- McLellan, A.T., Carise, D., & Kleber, H.D. (2003). Can the national addiction treatment infrastructure support the public's demand for quality care? *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 25(2),117–121.
- McPherson, C.M., & Sauder, M. (2013). Logics in action: Managing institutional complexity in a drug court. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 58(2), 165–198. doi:10.1177/0001839213486447
- Melnick, G., Wexler, H.K., & Rajan, S. (2014a). Measuring team members' satisfaction in drug courts: An instrument to gauge the component disciplines in drug court. *Drug Court Review*, 9(1), 56–73.
- Melnick, G., Wexler, H.K., & Zehner, M. (2014b). Communication in drug courts: The consensus-building enhancement. *Drug Court Review*, 9(1), 99–116.
- Melton, G.B., Petrila, J., Poythress, N.G., & Slobogin, C. (2007). *Psychological evaluations for the courts: A handbook for mental health professionals and lawyers* (3rd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Menefield v. Borg, 881 F.2d 696 (9th Cir. 1989).
- Meyer, W. (2011a). Constitutional and legal issues in drug courts. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *Thedrugcourt judicial benchbook* (pp. 159–180). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. *Available at* http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146_NDCI_Benchbook_v6.pdf
- Meyer, W. (2011b). Confidentiality. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 181–194). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- Meyer, W. (2011c). Ethical obligations of judges in drug courts. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 195–212). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- Meyer, W.G., & Tauber, J. (2011). The roles of the drug court judge. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 45–61). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- Miller, R.D., Morrow, B., Kaye, M., & Maier, G. (1987). Patient access to medical records in a forensic center: A controlled study. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 38(10), 1081–1085.
- Mitchell, O., Wilson, D.B., Eggers, A., & MacKenzie, D.L. (2012). Assessing the effectiveness of drug courts on recidivism: A meta-analytic review of traditional and nontraditional Drug Courts. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(1), 60–71.
- National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers. (2009). America's problem-solving courts: The criminal costs of treatment and the case for reform. Washington, DC: Author.
- National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (1997). *Defining drug courts: The key components*. (NCJ No. 205621). Washington, DC: Author.
- National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (2009). Position statement of the Board of Directors on defense counsel in drug courts. *Retrieved from* http://www.allrise.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/NADCP%20Board%20Position%20Statement%20-%20Defense%20Counsel%20in%20Drug%20Court%2006-10-09.pdf

- Portillo, S., Rudes, D.S., Viglione, J., & Nelson, M. (2013). Front-stage stars and backstage producers: The role of judges in problem-solving courts. *Victims and Offenders*, 8(1), 1–22.
- Robinson v. Ignacio, 360 F.3d 1044 (9th Cir. 2004).
- Roper, G.F., & Lessenger, J.E. (2007). Drug court organization and operations. In J.E. Lessenger & G.F. Roper (Eds.). *Drug courts:* A new approach to treatment and rehabilitation (pp. 284–300). New York: Springer.
- Ross, S.E., & Lin, C.T. (2003). The effects of promoting patient access to medical records: A review. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 10(2), 129–138.
- Rossman, S.B., Rempel, M., Roman, J.K., Zweig, J.M., Lindquist, C.H., Green, M., Farole, D.J. (2011). *The multi-site adult drug court evaluation: The impact of drug courts* (Vol.4). Washington, DC: Urban Institute Justice Policy Center. *Available at* https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/237112.pdf
- Satel, S. (1998). Observational study of courtroom dynamics in selected drug courts. *National Drug Court Institute Review, 1*(1), 43–72.
- Saum, C.A., Scarpitti, F.R., Butzin, C.A., Perez, V.W., Jennings, D., & Gray, A.R. (2002). Drug court participants' satisfaction with treatment and the court experience. *Drug Court Review*, 4(1), 39–81.
- Sergeant, H. (1986). Should psychiatric patients be granted access to their hospital records? *Lancet*, 328(8519), 1322–1325.
- Shaffer, D.K. (2006). Reconsidering Drug Court Effectiveness: A Meta-Analytic Review (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cincinnati). Retrieved from https://etd.ohiolink.edu/ap:10:0::NO:10:P10_ACCESSION_NUM:ucin1152549096
- Shaffer, D.K. (2010). Looking inside the black box of drug courts: A meta-analytic review. Justice Quarterly, 28(3), 493-521.
- Short, D. (1986). Some consequences of granting patients access to consultants' records. Lancet, 327(8493),1316–1318.
- Stasiewicz, P.R., Vincent, P.C., Bradizza, C.M., Connors, G.J., Maisto, S.A., & Mercer, N.D. (2008). Factors affecting agreement between severely mentally ill alcohol abusers' and collaterals' reports of alcohol and other substance abuse. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 22(1), 78–87.
- State v. Pitts, 131 Haw. 537 (2014).
- State of Washington v. Sykes, slip op. no. 87946-0, consolidated with 87947-8 (S. Ct. Wash. en banc, 12/18/2014).
- Tauber, J. (2011). Drug courts: Back to the future. In D.B. Marlowe & W.G. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 7–17). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. *Available at* http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146_NDCI_Benchbook_v6.pdf
- Taxman, F.S., & Bouffard, J.A. (2003). Substance abuse counselors' treatment philosophy and the content of treatment services provided to offenders in drug court programs. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 25(2), 75–84.
- Taylor, P. (2014). Building recovery-oriented systems of care for drug court participants. *Drug Court Practitioner Fact Sheet*, 9(1), 1–8. Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- Tobin, M. (2012). Participation of defense attorneys in drug courts. Drug Court Review, 8(1), 96-130.
- Turner, S., Greenwood, P., Fain, T., & Deschenes, E. (1999). Perceptions of Drug Court: How offenders view ease of program completion, strengths and weaknesses, and the impact on their lives. *National Drug Court Institute Review*, 2(1),61–85.
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2003). Summary of the HIPAA privacy rule [Office for Civil Rights Policy Brief]. Washington, DC: Author.
- Van Wormer, J. (2010). *Understanding operational dynamics of Drug Courts* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Washington). *Retrieved from* http://research.wsulibs.wsu.edu:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/2376/2810/vanWormer_wsu_0251E 10046.pdf?sequence=1
- Westin, A.F. (1977). Medical records: Should patients have access? *Hastings Center Report*, 7(6),23–28.
- Wexler, H.K., Zehner, M., & Melnick, G. (2012). Improving Drug Court operations: NIATx organizational improvement model. *Drug Court Review*, 8(1), 80–95.

Idaho Treatment Court Best Practice Standards Volume II

Wooten v. Duane Reade, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14724 (E.D. N.Y., 2009).

VIII. Census and Caseloads

The Treatment Court serves as many eligible individuals as practicable while maintaining continuous fidelity to best practice standards.

A. Treatment Court Census

The Treatment Court does not impose arbitrary restrictions on the number of participants it serves. The Treatment Court census is predicated on local need, obtainable resources, and the program's ability to apply best practices. When the census reaches 125 active participants, program operations are monitored carefully to ensure they remain consistent with best practice standards. If evidence suggests some operations are drifting away from best practices, the team develops a remedial action plan and timetable to rectify the deficiencies and evaluates the success of the remedial actions.

B. Supervision Caseloads

Caseloads for probation officers or other professionals responsible for community supervision of participants must permit sufficient opportunities to monitor participant performance, apply effective behavioral consequences, and report pertinent compliance information during precourt staff meetings and status hearings. When supervision caseloads exceed thirty active participants per supervision officer, program operations are monitored carefully to ensure supervision officers can evaluate participant performance accurately, share significant observations with team members, and complete other supervisory duties as assigned. Supervision caseloads do not exceed fifty active participants per supervision officer.

C. Clinician Caseloads

Caseloads for clinicians must permit sufficient opportunities to assess participant needs and deliver adequate and effective dosages of substance use disorder treatment and indicated complementary services. Program operations are monitored carefully to ensure adequate services are delivered when caseloads exceed the following thresholds:

- 50 active participants for clinicians providing clinical case management
- 40 active participants for clinicians providing individual therapy or counseling
- 30 active participants for clinicians providing both clinical case management and individual therapy or counseling

COMMENTARY

A. Drug Court Census

Drug Courts serve fewer than 10% of adults in the criminal justice system in need of their services (Bhati et al., 2008; Huddleston & Marlowe, 2011). An important goal for the Drug Court field is to take Drug Courts to scale and serve every drug-addicted person in the criminal justice system who meets evidence-based eligibility criteria for the programs (Fox & Berman, 2002). Putting arbitrary restrictions on the size of the Drug Court census unnecessarily reduces the program's impact on public health and public safety.

Not all Drug Courts, however, may have adequate resources to increase capacity while maintaining fidelity to best practices. Surveys of judges and other criminal justice professionals consistently identify insufficient personnel and other resources as the principal barrier preventing Drug Courts from expanding to serve more people (Center for Court Innovation, n.d.; Farole, 2006, 2009; Farole et al., 2005; Huddleston & Marlowe, 2011). Resource limitations may put some Drug Courts in the challenging position of needing to choose between diluting their services to treat more people or turning away deserving individuals.

Evidence suggests expanding Drug Court capacity without sufficient resources can interfere with adherence to best practices. A multisite study of approximately seventy Drug Courts found a significant inverse correlation between the size of the Drug Court census and effects on criminal recidivism (Carey et al., 2008, 2012a). On average, programs evidenced a steep decline in effectiveness when the census exceeded approximately 125 participants. Drug Courts with fewer than 125 participants were over five times more effective at reducing recidivism than Drug Courts with more than 125 participants (Carey et al., 2012a).

Further analyses uncovered a likely explanation for this finding: Drug Courts with more than 125 participants were less likely to follow best practices than Drug Courts with fewer participants. Specifically, when the census exceeded 125 participants, the following was observed (Carey et al., 2012b):

- Judges spent approximately half as much time interacting with participants in court.
- Team members were less likely to attend pre-court staff meetings.
- Treatment and law enforcement representatives were less likely to attend status hearings.
- Drug and alcohol testing occurred less frequently.
- Treatment agencies were less likely to communicate with the court about participant performance via email or other electronic means.
- Participants were treated by a large number of treatment agencies with divergent practices and expectations.
- Team members were less likely to receive training on Drug Court best practices.

These findings are merely correlations and do not prove that a large census produces poor outcomes. Most Drug Courts in the study were staffed by a single judge and a small team of roughly four to five other professionals overseeing a single court docket. Drug Courts can serve far more than 125 participants with effective results if the programs have sufficient personnel and resources to accommodate larger numbers of individuals. In fact, studies have reported positive outcomes for well-resourced Drug Courts serving more than 400 participants (Carey et al., 2012a; Cissner et al., 2013; Marlowe et al., 2008; Shaffer, 2010).

Nevertheless, the above results raise a red flag that as the census increases, Drug Courts may have greater difficulty delivering the quantity and quality of services required to achieve effective results. Therefore, when the Drug Court census reaches 125 active participants, this milestone should trigger a careful reexamination of the program's adherence to best practices. For example, staff should monitor Drug Court operations to ensure the judge is spending at least three minutes interacting with each participant in court [see Standard II, Roles and Responsibilities of the Judge], drug and alcohol testing is being performed randomly at least twice per week [see Standard VI, Drug and Alcohol Testing], team members are attending pre- court staff meetings and status hearings on a consistent basis [see Standard II and Standard VII, Multidisciplinary Team], and team members are receiving up-to-date training on best practices [see Standards II and VII]. If the results of this reexamination suggest some operations are drifting away from best practices, the team should develop a remedial action plan and timetable to rectify the deficiencies and evaluate the success of the remedial actions. For example, the Drug Court might need to hire additional staff to ensure it has manageable participant-to-staff caseloads, schedule status hearings on more days of the week, purchase more drug and alcohol tests, or schedule more continuing-education workshops for staff.

Studies have not determined whether censuses greater than 125 participants should trigger additional reexaminations of adherence to best practices. Until research addresses this question, at a minimum Drug Courts are advised to reexamine adherence to best practices when the census increases by successive increments of 125 participants.

B. Supervision Caseloads

In most Drug Courts, probation officers or pretrial services officers are responsible for supervising participants in the community; however, some Drug Courts may rely on law enforcement or specially trained court case managers to provide community supervision. Duties of the supervision officer may include performing drug and alcohol testing, conducting home and employment visits, enforcing curfews and geographic restrictions, and delivering cognitive-behavioral interventions designed to improve participants' problem-solving skills or alter dysfunctional criminal-thinking patterns (Harberts, 2011).

No study has examined the influence of supervision caseloads in Drug Courts. However, many studies have examined supervision caseloads in the context of adult probation. Early studies found that small probation

caseloads were paradoxically associated with increased rates of technical violations and arrests for new offenses (Gendreau et al., 2000a; Petersilia, 1999; Turner et al., 1992). This counterintuitive finding was attributable to increased surveillance of the probationers coupled with a failure to apply evidence-based practices. Smaller caseloads led to greater detection of infractions, but most infractions received excessively punitive responses, such as probation revocations, rather than evidence-based treatment or gradually escalating incentives and sanctions (Andrews et al., 1990; Gendreau et al., 2000b; Hollin, 1999).

Recent studies have reported improved outcomes when reduced probation caseloads were combined with evidence-based cognitive-behavioral counseling, motivational interviewing, or gradually escalating incentives and sanctions (Jalbert & Rhodes, 2012; Jalbert et al., 2010, 2011; Paparozzi & Gendreau, 2005; Pearson & Harper, 1990; Worrall et al., 2004). Results of these newer studies confirm that detecting infractions alone is insufficient to improve outcomes. To achieve positive results, probation officers must respond to infractions and achievements by delivering effective behavioral contingencies (incentives and sanctions) and ensuring probationers receive effective and adequate evidence-based treatment and social services (Center for Effective Public Policy, 2014; Paparozzi & Hinzman, 2005; Skeem & Manchak, 2008).

Identifying optimal probation caseloads has been a challenging task. In 1990, the American Probation and Parole Association (APPA, 1991) issued caseload guidelines derived from expert consensus. The 1990 guidelines recommended caseloads of 30:1 for high-risk probationers who have a substantial likelihood of failing on probation or committing a new offense (Table 2). In 2006, the APPA guidelines were amended, in part, to add a new category for intensive supervised probation (ISP). ISP was designed for probationers who are both high risk and high need, meaning they pose a substantial risk of failing on probation and also have serious treatment or social-service needs (Petersilia, 1999). Because ISP and Drug Courts are both intended for high-risk and high-need individuals, recommendations for ISP may be particularly instructive for Drug Court best practices. Based on expert consensus, the 2006 APPA amendments recommended caseloads of 20:1 for high-risk and high-need probationers on ISP, and increased the recommended caseloads to 50:1 for moderate- and high-risk probationers who do not have serious treatment or social-service needs (Byrne, 2012; DeMichele, 2007).

Table 2. APPA [*] Recommended Caseloads.					
Probationer Risk and Need Level	1990 Guidelines	2006 Guidelines			
ISP†: high risk and high need	NR§	20:1			
High risk	30:1	50:1			
Moderate risk	60:1	50:1			
Low risk	120:1	200:1			

^{*}American Probation and Parole Association

Sources: APPA (1991); Byrne (2012); DeMichele (2007)

Recent studies examined the effects of adhering to the 2006 APPA guidelines. A randomized experiment compared the services received and outcomes achieved when probation officers had reduced caseloads of approximately 50:1 for moderate and high-risk probationers as compared to typical probation caseloads of approximately 100:1 (Jalbert & Rhodes, 2012). Results confirmed that probationers on 50:1 caseloads received significantly more probation office sessions, field visits, employer contacts, telephone check-ins, and substance use disorder and mental health treatment (Jalbert & Rhodes, 2012). As a consequence of receiving more services, they also had significantly better probation outcomes, including fewer positive drug tests and other technical violations (Jalbert & Rhodes, 2012). Probation officers with caseloads substantially above 50:1 had considerable difficulty accomplishing their core missions of monitoring probationers closely and reducing technical violations.

Another quasi-experimental study examined the effects of reducing caseloads from 50:1 to 30:1 for high-risk and high-need probationers on ISP (Jalbert et al., 2010). A 30:1 caseload is greater than the APPA recommended guideline of 20:1 for ISP, but is considerably smaller than typical probation caseloads of 100:1 (Bonta et al., 2008; Paparozzi & Hinzman, 2005) and recommended caseloads of 50:1 for most high-risk probationers (Byrne, 2012). Results confirmed that probationers on 30:1 caseloads had more frequent and longer contacts with their probation officers, and received more specialized services designed to reduce their

[†]Intensive supervised probation

[§]Not reported

risk to public safety, including behavior therapy, domestic-violence counseling, spousal-batterer interventions, and sex-offender treatment (Jalbert et al., 2010). Most striking, probationers on 30:1 caseloads had significantly lower recidivism rates lasting for at least two and a half years, including fewer new arrests for drug, property, and violent crimes (Jalbert et al., 2010).

Taken together, the weight of scientific evidence (Jalbert & Rhodes, 2012; Jalbert et al., 2011) and expert consensus (APPA, 1991; Byrne, 2012; DeMichele, 2007) suggests supervision officers are unlikely to manage high-risk cases effectively and reduce technical violations when their caseloads exceed 50:1.

Supervision officers in Drug Courts are unlikely to accomplish their core functions of monitoring participants accurately, applying effective behavioral consequences, and sharing important compliance information with Drug Court team members if their caseloads exceed this critical threshold.

Research in ISP programs suggests long-term reductions in criminal recidivism are most likely to be achieved for high-risk and high-need participants when caseloads stay at or below 30:1 (Jalbert et al., 2010). Whether 30:1 caseloads are required similarly for Drug Courts is an open question. Drug Courts include several components not encompassed by ISP, which may enhance the influence of supervision officers. For example, Drug Court participants are supervised and treated by a multidisciplinary team of professionals and attend status hearings in court on a frequent basis. Larger caseloads may be manageable for supervision officers in light of these additional service elements. Until research resolves the issue, Drug Courts are advised to monitor their operations carefully when caseloads for supervision officers exceed 30:1; caseloads should never exceed a 50:1 ratio. Assurance is needed that supervision officers can monitor participant performance effectively, contribute critical observations and information during pre-court staff meetings and status hearings, and complete other assigned duties such as performing drug and alcohol testing, conducting field visits, and delivering cognitive-behavioral criminal-thinking interventions.

Bear in mind these caseload guidelines assume the supervision officer is assigned principally to Drug Court and is not burdened substantially with other professional obligations. Smaller caseloads may be required if supervision officers are also managing caseloads outside of Drug Court or if they have supplementary administrative or managerial duties in addition to supervising Drug Court participants.

C. Clinician Caseloads

In Drug Courts, addiction counselors, social workers, psychologists, or clinical case managers are typically responsible for assessing participant needs, delivering or overseeing the delivery of treatment services, charting treatment progress, and reporting progress information to the Drug Court team (Lutze & Van Wormer, 2007; Shaffer, 2010; Van Wormer, 2010). Outcomes are significantly better in Drug Courts when participants meet individually with one of these clinicians on a weekly basis for at least the first phase of the program [see Standard IV, Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Standard V, Complementary Treatment and Social Services].

National studies of outpatient individual substance use disorder treatment consistently find that the size of clinician caseloads is inversely correlated with patient outcomes and clinician job performance (Hser et al., 2001; McCaughrin & Price, 1992; Stewart et al., 2004; Vocisano et al., 2004; Woodward et al., 2006). As caseloads increase, patients receive fewer services, patients are more likely to abuse illicit substances, clinicians are more likely to behave punitively toward patients, and clinicians are more likely to report significant job burnout and dissatisfaction (King et al., 2004; Stewart et al., 2004). Comparable studies are lacking for residential substance use disorder treatment and for group clinicians who deliver services to several participants simultaneously.

Determining appropriate caseloads for clinicians in Drug Courts depends largely on their role and the scope of their responsibilities:

- Clinical Case Management Role—Some clinicians in Drug Courts serve principally as clinical case managers, assessing participant needs, brokering referrals for services, and reporting progress information to the Drug Court team (Monchick et al., 2006). They may also represent treatment concerns during pre-court staff meetings and status hearings.
- Treatment Provider Role—Some clinicians serve principally as treatment providers, administering individual therapy or counseling and perhaps facilitating or cofacilitating group interventions

(Cissner et al., 2013; Zweig et al., 2012). They may also provide or refer participants for indicated complementary services, such as mental health treatment or vocational counseling.

• Combined Clinical Case Management and Treatment Provider Roles—Some clinicians serve both clinical case management and treatment provider functions. In addition to providing individual therapy or counseling, they are responsible for assessing participant needs, referring participants for complementary services, coordinating care between multiple service providers, reporting progress to the Drug Court team, and representing treatment concerns during pre-court staff meetings and status hearings (Braude, 2005; Monchick et al., 2006).

National practitioner organizations have published broad caseload guidelines based in part on these professional roles and responsibilities (Case Management Society of America & National Association of Social Workers, 2008; North Carolina Administrative Office of the Courts, 2010; Rodriguez, 2011). These guidelines have not been validated empirically in terms of their effects on outcomes. Rather, they are derived from expert consensus about heavy caseloads that are likely too large to deliver adequate services or that contribute to staff burnout and job dissatisfaction. The guidelines focus exclusively on individual counseling and clinical case management. Comparable guidelines for group counselors have not been published. Table 3 summarizes the consensus conclusions.

Table 3. Caseload Guidelines Derived from Expert Consensus.				
Principal Role and Responsibilities	Caseload	Reference		
Clinical case management	50:1 to 75:1	Rodriguez (2011)		
Individual therapy or counseling	40:1 to 50:1	CMSA* & NASW† (2008) Hromco et al. (2003)		
Combination of clinical case management and individual therapy or counseling	30:1	CMSA & NASW (2008) NCAOC [§] (2010)		

^{*}Case Management Society of America

To reiterate, these guidelines are derived from expert consensus and have not been validated against outcomes. Moreover, professional roles and responsibilities are rarely so clearly delineated in day-to-day Drug Court operations. Clinicians in Drug Courts may provide clinical case management for some participants and therapy or counseling for others, may have a mixture of individual and group treatment responsibilities, and may have other nonclinical duties, such as drug and alcohol testing, that reduce the time they have available for clinical assessment, treatment, or case management. Caseload expectations need to be adjusted in light of actual job responsibilities.

Nevertheless, these guidelines should serve as broad milestones to alert Drug Courts to the possibility of clinician overload and the need to audit their operations to ensure adequate services are being delivered. Because Drug Courts serve high-risk and high-need individuals, programs are advised to reexamine adherence to best practices when clinician caseloads reach the lowest ratios reported in Table 3. For example, when clinical case management caseloads exceed 50:1, individual counseling caseloads exceed 40:1, or combined caseloads exceed 30:1, staff should monitor Drug Court operations to ensure participants are being assessed appropriately for risk and need [see Standard I, Target Population], participants are meeting individually with a clinician on a weekly basis for at least the first phase of treatment [see Standard IV, Substance Use Disorder Treatment and Standard V, Complementary Treatment and Social Services], participants are receiving at least 200 hours of cognitive-behavioral treatment [see Standard IV], and clinicians are providing reliable and timely progress information to the Drug Court team [see Standard VII, Multidisciplinary Team]. Drug Courts are unlikely to achieve the goals of rehabilitating participants and reducing crime if clinicians are spread too thin to assess and meet participants' service needs.

[†]National Association of Social Workers

⁸North Carolina Administrative Office of the Courts

REFERENCES

- American Probation and Parole Association. (1991). Caseload standards: APPA issues committee report. APPA Perspectives, (Summer), 34–36. Available at https://www.appa-net.org/eweb/docs/APPA/stances/ip_CS.pdf
- Andrews, D.A., Zinger, I., Hoge, R.D., Bonta, J., Gendreau, P., Cullen, F.T. (1990). Does correctional treatment work? A clinically relevant and psychologically informed meta-analysis. *Criminology*, 28(3),369–404.
- Bhati, A.S., Roman, J.K., & Chalfin, A. (2008). To treat or not to treat: Evidence on the prospects of expanding treatment to drug-involved offenders. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- Bonta, J., Rugge, T., Scott, T., Bourgon, G., & Yessine, A.K. (2008). Exploring the black box of community supervision. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 47(3), 248–270.
- Braude, L. (2005). The Cook County Mental Health Court: Development, implementation, and initial implications. *Offender Substance Abuse Report*, 5(5), 67–76.
- Byrne, J.M. (2012). New directions in community supervision: Should we target high risk offenders, high risk times, and high risk locations? *European Journal of Probation*, 4(2),77–101.
- Carey, S.M., Finigan, M.W., & Pukstas, K. (2008). Exploring the key components of drug courts: A comparative study of 18 adult drug courts on practices, outcomes and costs. Portland, OR: NPC Research. Available at http://www.npcresearch.com/Files/NIJ Cross-site Final Report 0308.pdf
- Carey, S.M., Mackin, J.R., & Finigan, M.W. (2012a). What works? The ten key components of drug court: Research-based best practices. Drug Court Review, 8(1), 6–42.
- Carey, S.M., Mackin, J.R., & Finigan, M.W. (2012b, May/June). Top 10 drug court best practices and more! What works? Findings from the latest research. Symposium conducted at the National Association of Drug Court Professionals 18th Annual Training Conference, Nashville, TN.
- Case Management Society of America, & National Association of Social Workers. (2008). Case management caseload concept paper: Proceedings of the Caseload Work Group. Little Rock, AR: Author. Available at http://www.cmsa.org/portals/0/pdf/CaseloadCalc.pdf
- Center for Court Innovation. (n.d.). Researchers, practitioners and the future of drug courts. *Retrieved from* http://www.courtinnovation.org/research/researchers-practitioners-and-future-drug-courts
- Center for Effective Public Policy. (2014). Dosage probation: Rethinking the structure of probation sentences. Silver Spring, MD: Author.
- Cissner, A., Rempel, M., Franklin, A.W., Roman, J.K., Bieler, S., Cohen, R., & Cadoret, C.R. (2013). A statewide evaluation of New York's adult drug courts: Identifying which policies work best. New York: Center for Court Innovation.
- DeMichele, M.T. (2007). Probation and parole's growing caseloads and workload allocation: Strategies for managerial decision making. Lexington, KY: American Probation & Parole Association. Available athttp://www.appanet.org/eweb/docs/appa/pubs/SMDM.pdf
- Farole, D.J. (2006). The challenges of going to scale: Lessons from other disciplines for problem-solving courts. New York, NY: Center for Court Innovation.
- Farole, D.J. (2009). Problem solving and the American bench: A national survey of trial court judges. *Justice System Journal*, 30(1), 50–69.
- Farole, D.J., Puffett, N., Rempel, M., & Byrne, F. (2005). Applying problem-solving principles in mainstream courts: Lessons for state courts. *Justice System Journal*, 26(1),57–75.
- Fox, A., & Berman, G. (2002). Going to scale: A conversation about the future of drug courts. Court Review, 39(3), 4-13.
- Gendreau, P., Goggin, C., Cullen, F.T., & Andrews, D.A. (2000a). The effects of community sanctions and incarceration on recidivism. *Forum on Corrections Research*, 12(2), 10–13.
- Gendreau, P., Goggin, C., & Smith, P. (2000b). Intensive supervision in probation and parole. In C. Hollin (Ed.), *Handbook of offender assessment and treatment* (pp. 195–204). Chichester, UK: Wiley.

- Harberts, H. (2011). Community supervision. In D.B. Marlowe & W.B. Meyer (Eds.), *The drug court judicial benchbook* (pp. 97–111). Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. *Available at* http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/14146
 NDCI Benchbook v6.pdf
- Hollin, C.R. (1999). Treatment programs for offenders: Meta-analysis, "what works," and beyond. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 22(3–4), 361–372.
- Hromco, J., Moore, M., & Nikkel, R. (2003). How managed care has affected mental health case management activities, caseloads, and tenure. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 39(6),501–509.
- Hser, Y., Joshi, V., Maglione, M., Chou, C., & Anglin, M.D. (2001). Effects of program and patient characteristics on retention of drug treatment patients. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 24(4), 331–341.
- Huddleston, W., & Marlowe, D.B. (2011). Painting the current picture: A national report on drug courts and other problem solving court programs in the United States. Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- Jalbert, S.K., & Rhodes, W. (2012). Reduced caseloads improve probation outcomes. Journal of Crime and Justice, 35(2), 221–238.
- Jalbert, S.K., Rhodes, W., Flygare, C., & Kane, M. (2010). Testing probation outcomes in an evidence-based practice setting: Reduced caseload size and intensive supervision effectiveness. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 49(4), 233–253.
- Jalbert, S.K., Rhodes, W., Kane, M., Clawson, E., Bogue, B., Flygare, C., Kling, R., & Guevera, M. (2011). A multi-site evaluation of reduced probation caseload size in an evidence-based practice setting: Final report. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- King, R., Meadows, G., & LeBas, J. (2004). Compiling a caseload index for mental health case management. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 38(6), 455–462.
- Lutze, F.E., & Van Wormer, J.G. (2007). The nexus between drug and alcohol treatment program integrity and drug court effectiveness: Policy recommendations for pursuing success. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 18(3),226–245.
- Marlowe, D.B., Festinger, D.S., Dugosh, K.L., Arabia, P.L., & Kirby, K.C. (2008). An effectiveness trial of contingency management in a felony pre-adjudication drug court. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 41(4), 565–577.
- McCaughrin, W.C., & Price, R.H. (1992). Effective outpatient drug treatment organizations: Program features and selection effects. *International Journal of Addictions*, 27(11), 1335–1358.
- Monchick, R., Scheyett, A., & Pfeiffer, J. (2006). *Drug court case management: Role, function, and utility* [Monograph Series No. 7]. Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute.
- North Carolina Administrative Office of the Courts. (2010). Best practices for North Carolina drug treatment courts. Raleigh, NC: Author. Available at http://www.nccourts.org/Citizens/CPrograms/DTC/documents/dtcbestpractices.pdf
- Paparozzi, M.A., & Gendreau, P. (2005). An intensive supervision program that worked: Service delivery, professional orientation, and organizational supportiveness. *Prison Journal*, 85(4), 445–466.
- Paparozzi, M.A., & Hinzman, G. (2005). Caseload size in probation and parole. *APPA Perspectives*, (Spring), 23–25. *Available at* http://www.mariopaparozzi.com/uploads/CaseloadSize.pdf
- Pearson, F.S., & Harper, A. (1990). Contingent intermediate sanctions: New Jersey's intensive supervision program. *Crime and Delinquency*, 36(1), 75–86.
- Petersilia, J. (1999). A decade of experimenting with intermediate sanctions: What have we learned? *Justice Research and Policy*, I(1), 9–23.
- Rodriguez, P.F. (2011). Case management for substance abusing offenders. In C. Leukefeld, T.P. Gullotta, & J. Gregrich (Eds.), *Handbook of evidence-based substance abuse treatment in criminal justice settings* (pp. 173–181). New York: Springer.
- Shaffer, D.K. (2010). Looking inside the black box of drug courts: A meta-analytic review. Justice Quarterly, 28(3), 493–521.
- Skeem, J.L., & Manchak, S. (2008). Back to the future: From Klockars' model of effective supervision to evidence-based practice in probation. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 47(3), 220–247.
- Stewart, D., Gossop, M., & Marsden, J. (2004). Increased caseloads in methadone treatment programs: Implications for the delivery of services and retention in treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 27(4), 301–306.

Idaho Treatment Court Best Practice Standards Volume II

- Turner, S., Petersilia, J., & Deschenes, E.P. (1992). Evaluating intensive supervision probation/parole (ISP) for drug offenders. *Crime and Delinquency*, 38(4), 239–256.
- Van Wormer, J. (2010). *Understanding operational dynamics of drug courts* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Washington). *Retrieved from* http://research.wsulibs.wsu.edu:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/2376/2810/vanWormer_wsu_0251E_10046.pdf ?sequence=1
- Vocisano, C., Klein, D.N., Arnow, B., Rivera, C., Blalock, J.A., Vivian, D., . . . & Riso, L.P. (2004). Therapist variables that predict symptom change in psychotherapy with chronically depressed outpatients. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 41(3), 255–265.
- Woodward, A., Das, A., Raskin, I.E., & Morgan-Lopez, A.A. (2006). An exploratory analysis of treatment completion and client and organizational factors using hierarchical linear modeling. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 29(4), 335–351.
- Worrall, J.L., Schram, P., Hays, E., & Newman, M. (2004). An analysis of the relationship between probation caseloads and property crime rates in California counties. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 32(4), 231–241.
- Zweig, J.M., Lindquist, C., Downey, P.M., Roman, J., & Rossman, S.B. (2012). Drug court policies and practices: How program implementation affects offender substance use and criminal behavior outcomes. *Drug Court Review*, 8(1), 43–79.

IX. Monitoring and Evaluation

The Treatment Court routinely monitors its adherence to best practice standards and employs scientifically valid and reliable procedures to evaluate its effectiveness.

A. Adherence to Best Practices

The Treatment Court monitors its adherence to best practice standards on at least an annual basis, develops a remedial action plan and timetable to rectify deficiencies, and examines the success of the remedial actions. Outcome evaluations describe the effectiveness of the Treatment Court in the context of its adherence to best practices in accordance with 19-5605.

B. In-Program Outcomes

The Treatment Court continually monitors participant outcomes during enrollment in the program, including attendance at scheduled appointments, drug and alcohol test results, graduation rates, lengths of stay, and in-program technical violations and new arrests.

C. Criminal Recidivism

Where such information is available, new arrests, new convictions, and new incarcerations are monitored for at least three years following each participant's entry into the Treatment Court. Offenses are categorized according to the level (felony, misdemeanor, or summary offense) and nature (e.g., person, property, drug, or traffic offense) of the crime involved.

D. Independent Evaluations

A skilled and independent evaluator examines the Treatment Court's adherence to best practices and participant outcomes no less frequently than every five years. The Treatment Court develops a remedial action plan and timetable to implement recommendations from the evaluator to improve the program's adherence to best practices.

E. Electronic Database

Information relating to the services provided and participants' in-program performance is entered into an electronic database. Statistical summaries from the database provide staff with real-time information concerning the Treatment Court's adherence to best practices and in-program outcomes.

F. Timely and Reliable Data Entry

Staff members are required to record information concerning the provision of services, minimum data elements, and in-program outcomes within forty-eight hours of the respective events. Timely and reliable data entry is required of each staff member and is a basis for evaluating staff job performance.

G. Intent-to-Treat Analyses

Outcomes are examined for all eligible participants who entered the Treatment Court regardless of whether they graduated, withdrew, or were terminated from the program.

H. Comparison Groups

Outcomes for Treatment Court participants are compared to those of an unbiased and equivalent comparison group. Individuals in the comparison group satisfy legal and clinical eligibility criteria for participation in the Treatment Court, but did not enter the Treatment

Court for reasons having no relationship to their outcomes. Comparison groups do not include individuals who refused to enter the Treatment Court, withdrew or were terminated from the Treatment Court, or were denied entry to the Treatment Court because of their legal charges, criminal history, or clinical assessment results.

I. Time at Risk

Participants in the Treatment Court and comparison groups have an equivalent opportunity to engage in conduct of interest to the evaluation, such as substance use and criminal recidivism. Outcomes for both groups are examined over an equivalent time period beginning from a comparable start date. If participants in either group were incarcerated or detained in a residential facility for a significantly longer period of time than participants in the other group, the length of time participants were detained or incarcerated is accounted for statistically in outcome comparisons.

J. Collected Data and Reporting

Initial treatment court intake information must be obtained for each participant assessed for entry into treatment court. Complete intake information must be obtained for all participants who enter treatment court. This data must be entered into the electronic treatment court module. This information is essential to evaluate the effectiveness of the Idaho Treatment Courts. An annual report, The Effectiveness of Idaho Treatment Courts will be presented to the Governor and the Legislature by the Idaho Treatment Court Coordinating Committee, no later than the first day of the Legislative session.

<u>COMMENTARY</u>

A. Adherence to Best Practices

Adherence to best practices is generally poor in most sectors of the criminal justice and substance use disorder treatment systems (Friedmann et al., 2007; Henderson et al., 2007; McLellan et al., 2003; Taxman et al., 2007). Programs infrequently deliver services that are proven to be effective and commonly deliver services which have not been subjected to careful scientific scrutiny. Over time, the quality and quantity of the services provided may decline precipitously (Etheridge et al., 1995; Van Wormer, 2010). The best way for a Drug Court to guard against these prevailing destructive pressures is to monitor its operations routinely, compare its performance to established benchmarks, and seek to align itself continually with best practices. Not knowing whether one's Drug Court is in compliance with best practices makes it highly unlikely that needed improvements will be recognized and implemented; therefore, evaluating a Drug Court's adherence to best practice standards is, itself, a best practice.

Studies reveal that Drug Courts are significantly more likely to deliver effective services and produce positive outcomes when they hold themselves accountable for meeting empirically validated benchmarks for success. A multisite study involving approximately seventy Drug Courts found that programs had more than twice the impact on crime and were more than twice as cost-effective when they monitored their operations on a consistent basis, reviewed the findings as a team, and modified their policies and procedures accordingly (Carey et al., 2008, 2012).

Like many complex service organizations, Drug Courts are highly susceptible to drift, in which the quality of their services may decline appreciably over time (Van Wormer, 2010). Management strategies such as continuous performance improvement (CPI), continuous quality improvement (CQI), and managing for results (MFR) are designed to avoid drift and enhance a program's adoption of best practices. Each of these management strategies emphasizes continual self-monitoring and rapid-cycle testing. This process involves collecting real-time information about a program's operations and outcomes, feeding that information back to key staff members and decision makers on a routine basis, and implementing and evaluating remedial action plans where indicated. Research consistently shows that continual self-monitoring and rapid-cycle testing are

critical elements for improving outcomes and increasing adoption of best practices in the health care and criminal justice systems (Damschroder et al., 2009; Rudes et al., 2013; Taxman & Belenko, 2013). These strategies are essential for programs that require cross collaboration and interdisciplinary communication among multiple service agencies, including Drug Courts (Bryson et al., 2006; Wexler et al., 2012).

Studies have not determined how frequently programs should review performance information and implement and evaluate self-corrective measures. Common practice among successful organizations is to collect performance data continually and meet at least annually as a team to review the information and take self-corrective measures (Carey et al., 2012; Rudes et al., 2013; Taxman & Belenko, 2013).

Reporting outcomes from Drug Courts without placing those findings into context by describing the quality of the programs is no longer enough. Meta-analyses (Aos et al., 2006; Latimer et al., 2006; Lowenkamp et al., 2005; Mitchell et al., 2012; Shaffer, 2010; Wilson et al., 2006) and large-scale multisite studies (Rossman et al., 2011) have already clearly established that Drug Courts reduce crime by approximately 8% to 14% on average. These averages, derived from evaluations of more than 100 Drug Courts, mask a great deal of variability between programs. Some Drug Courts reduce crime by more than 50%, others have no impact on crime, and still others increase crime rates in their communities (Carey et al., 2012; Carey & Waller, 2011; Cissner et al., 2013; Downey & Roman, 2010; Government Accountability Office, 2011; Mitchell et al., 2012; Shaffer, 2010). The important question is no longer whether Drug Courts can work, but rather how they work and what services contribute to better outcomes (Marlowe et al., 2006). Understanding what distinguishes effective Drug Courts from ineffective and harmful Drug Courts is now an essential goal for the field. Unless evaluators describe each Drug Court's adherence to best practices, there is no way to place that program's outcomes in context or interpret the significance of the findings.

B. In-Program Outcomes

One of the primary aims of a Drug Court is to rehabilitate seriously addicted individuals, which means that retaining participants in treatment, reducing drug and alcohol use, and helping participants to complete treatment successfully are important indicators of short-term progress. However, policymakers, the public, and other stakeholders are likely to judge the merits of a Drug Court by how well it reduces crime, incarceration rates, and taxpayer expenditures. Therefore, Drug Courts need to measure in-program outcomes that not only reflect clinical progress, but are also significant predictors of post-program criminal recidivism and other long-term outcomes.

At minimal cost and effort, Drug Courts can evaluate short-term outcomes while participants are enrolled in the program. These short-term outcomes provide significant information about participants' clinical progress and the likely long-term impacts of the Drug Court on public health and public safety. Studies have consistently determined that post-program recidivism is reduced significantly when participants attend more frequent treatment and probation sessions, provide fewer drug-positive urine tests, remain in the program for longer periods of time, have fewer in-program technical violations and arrests for new crimes, and satisfy other conditions for graduation (Gifford et al., 2014; Gottfredson et al., 2007, 2008; Huebner & Cobbina, 2007; Jones & Kemp, 2011; Peters et al., 2002). Drug Courts should, therefore, monitor and report on these in-program outcomes routinely during the course of their operations.

Several resources are available to help Drug Courts define and calculate performance measures of in-program outcomes (Berman et al., 2007; Heck, 2006; Marlowe, in press; Peters, 1996; Rubio et al., 2008a). In 2006, NADCP convened leading Drug Court researchers and evaluators to form the National Research Advisory Committee (NRAC). One goal of this committee was to define a core data set of in-program performance measures for adult Drug Courts (Heck, 2006). NRAC selected measures that are simple and inexpensive to track and evaluate and proven to predict long-term outcomes. These performance measures include the following:

- Retention—the number of participants who completed the Drug Court divided by the number who entered the program
- Sobriety—the number of negative drug and alcohol tests divided by the total number of tests performed
- Recidivism—the number of participants arrested for a new crime divided by the number who entered the program, and the number of participants adjudicated officially for a technical violation divided by the number who entered the program

- Units of Service—the numbers of treatment sessions, probation sessions, and court hearings attended
- Length of Stay—the number of days from entry to discharge or the participant's last in-person contact with staff

Longer lists of performance measures addressing a wide range of outcomes in Drug Courts and other problemsolving courts have been published by expert organizations including the National Center for State Courts (Rubio et al., 2008a; Waters et al., 2010), the Center for Court Innovation (Rempel, 2006, 2007), American University (Peters, 1996), the Organization of American States (Marlowe, in press), the National Center for DWI Courts (Marlowe, 2010), and the National Institute of Justice (NIJ, 2010). Drug Courts are advised to consult these and other resources for further information on how to calculate and interpret additional performance measures for their evaluations.

C. Criminal Recidivism

For many policymakers and members of the public, reducing criminal recidivism is one of the primary aims of a Drug Court. Recidivism is defined as any return to criminal activity after the participant entered the Drug Court. Recidivism does not include crimes that occurred before the participant entered Drug Court even if those crimes are charged or prosecuted after entry.

Recidivism is measured most commonly by new arrests, new convictions, or new incarcerations occurring over a two- or three-year period (Carey et al., 2012; King & Elderbroom, 2014; Rempel, 2006). For example, the Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS) tracks new arrests, convictions, and incarcerations occurring within three years of the date that state and federal inmates are released from jail or prison (Durose et al., 2014).

Based on scientific considerations, evaluators should follow participants for at least three years, and ideally up to five years, from the date of entry into the Drug Court or from the date of the arrest or technical violation that made the individual eligible for Drug Court. The date of entry should be the latest start date for the evaluation because that is when the Drug Court becomes capable of influencing participant behavior directly.

Starting from the date of arrest or technical violation takes into account the potential impact of delays in admitting participants to Drug Court. The sooner participants enter Drug Court after an arrest or probation violation, the better the results (Carey et al., 2008, 2012); therefore, evaluators may wish to examine how delayed entry affects outcomes. However, because Drug Courts cannot always control what transpires before participants enter the Drug Court program, attributing to the Drug Court any recidivism occurring before entry may not fairly represent the Drug Courts' effects on recidivism. Starting from the date of entry ensures recidivism may be attributed fairly to the effects of the Drug Court. No one answer fully addresses the issues surrounding selection of a start date for evaluation; therefore; evaluators should state clearly what start date was selected and the rationale for choosing that start date.

Rates of criminal recidivism among drug-involved offenders become relatively stable after approximately three to five years (King & Elderbroom, 2014). After three years, statistically significant between-group differences in recidivism are likely to remain significant going forward (e.g., Knight et al., 1999; Martin et al., 1999; Wexler et al., 1999). For example, if Drug Court participants have significantly lower rearrest rates than comparison group subjects after three years, this difference is likely (although not guaranteed) to remain significant after an additional two years (DeVall et al., 2015). After five years, recidivism rates tend to reach a plateau, meaning that most (but not all) participants who will recidivate have likely done so by then (e.g., Gossop et al., 2005; Inciardi et al., 2004; Olson & Lurigio, 2014).

Importantly, these findings do not suggest Drug Courts must wait three to five years before reporting recidivism outcomes. Recidivism occurring during enrollment and shortly after discharge from Drug Court may be of considerable interest to practitioners, policymakers, and other stakeholders. However, implying that recidivism rates occurring within the first two years are likely to reflect the long-term effects of a Drug Court is inappropriate. Evaluators should state clearly that such recidivism rates are preliminary and likely to increase over time.

No one basis exists for deciding whether new arrests, new convictions, or new incarcerations are likely to be the most valid or informative indicator of recidivism. As discussed below, each measure has advantages and disadvantages that the evaluator must take into account. Because no one measure is clearly superior to another, whenever possible evaluators are advised to report all three measures of recidivism, discuss the implications and limitations of each, or indicate why a particular measure is not being reported.

Analyzing new arrests as a measure of criminal recidivism provides at least two advantages. First, arrests are often substantially closer in time to the alleged offense than convictions. Resolving a criminal case and determining guilt or innocence may take months or years. Evaluators can usually report arrest outcomes in much less time than waiting for lengthy legal proceedings to resolve. Second, criminal cases are often dismissed or pled down to a lesser charge for reasons having little to do with factual guilt, such as insufficient evidence or plea bargains. As a result, the absence of a conviction or conviction on a lesser charge may not reflect the offense that occurred.

However, some individuals are arrested for crimes they did not commit. This fact may lead to an overestimation of the true level of criminal recidivism. Relying on conviction data rather than arrest data may provide greater assurances that the crimes did, in fact, occur.

Incarceration has substantial cost impacts that may far exceed those of arrests and convictions. A day in jail or prison can cost between five and twenty times more than a day on probation or in community-based treatment (Belenko et al., 2005; Zarkin et al., 2012). Evaluators typically distinguish between incarceration that occurred while participants were enrolled in the Drug Court and incarceration that occurred after discharge. In-program incarceration often reflects brief jail sanctions that may be imposed for misconduct in the program, whereas post-program incarceration typically reflects pretrial detention for new charges, sentences for new charges, or (for terminated participants) sentencing on the original charge that led to participation in Drug Court. In cost evaluations, in-program jail sanctions are typically counted as an investment cost for the Drug Court whereas post-program detention is typically counted as an outcome cost (Carey et al., 2012).

Evaluators must also consider the timeliness and accuracy of information contained in criminal justice databases. In some jurisdictions, arrest data may be recorded in a more timely and faithful manner than conviction or incarceration data. Evaluators must familiarize themselves with how and when information is entered into national, state, and local criminal justice records and should describe clearly in their evaluation reports any limitations that may relate to the accuracy or timeliness of the data.

Self-report information could potentially provide the most accurate assessment of criminal recidivism because it does not require detection or prosecution by law enforcement. Because many crimes are unreported by victims and undetected by the authorities (Truman & Langton, 2014), arrest and conviction data may underestimate true levels of criminal activity. For obvious reasons, however, individuals cannot be relied upon to acknowledge their crimes unless they receive strict assurances that the information will be kept confidential and will not be used against them in a criminal proceeding. Drug Courts will typically be required to hire an independent evaluator who has no connection to the court or criminal justice system to confidentially survey participants. This method is likely to be prohibitively costly for many Drug Courts, which explains why it has rarely been employed with the notable exception of one highly funded national study (Rossman et al., 2011).

Whether measured by arrests, convictions, or incarcerations, categorizing recidivism according to the level (i.e., felony, misdemeanor, or summary offense) and nature (e.g., drug offenses, property and theft offenses, violent offenses, technical violations, prostitution, and traffic offenses) of the crimes involved is highly informative and necessary. Different categories of crime can have very different implications for public safety and cost. For example, violent offenses may have serious victimization costs and may result in substantial jail or prison sentences, whereas drug possession may not involve an identifiable victim and is more likely to receive a less costly probation sentence (Zarkin et al., 2012).

As a final note, not all Drug Courts have reasonable access to data on new arrests, convictions, or incarcerations occurring after participants have been discharged from the program. In some jurisdictions, these records may be in the possession of other executive agencies, such as the police department or department of corrections, and the Drug Court may not be entitled to the information. Under such circumstances, Drug Courts should make every effort to negotiate access to the data, but of course, Drug Courts cannot be held accountable for reporting information beyond their reach.

D. Independent Evaluations

In addition to monitoring their own performance, Drug Courts benefit greatly from having an independent

evaluator examine their program and issue recommendations to improve their adherence to best practices. Drug Courts that engaged an independent evaluator and implemented at least some of the evaluator's recommendations were determined in one multisite study to be twice as cost-effective and nearly twice as effective at reducing crime as Drug Courts that did not engage an independent evaluator (Carey et al., 2008, 2012).

Drug Courts benefit from an independent evaluation for several reasons. Every program has blind spots that prevent staff from recognizing their own shortcomings. Some team members, such as the judge, may have more social influence or power than others, making it difficult for some team members to call attention to problems in court or during team meetings. Drug Courts also operate in a political environment and staff may be hesitant to criticize local practices for fear of reprisal. An independent evaluator from another jurisdiction can usually offer frank criticisms of current practices with less fear of repercussions (Heck & Thanner, 2006).

Although most Drug Courts are capable of keeping descriptive statistics about their program, considerably more expertise is required to perform inferential analyses, which compare Drug Court outcomes to those of a comparison group. Controlling statistically for preexisting group differences that could bias one's results is often necessary. For example, if Drug Court participants had fewer previous convictions than comparison subjects before entering the study, better outcomes for the Drug Court might simply reflect the fact that it treated a less severe population. Evaluators must take numerous scientific matters into consideration and may need to apply several levels of statistical corrections to produce valid and reliable results.

Studies also reveal that participant perceptions are often highly predictive of outcomes in Drug Courts. For example, perceptions concerning the procedural fairness of the program (Burke, 2010; McIvor, 2009), the manner in which incentives and sanctions are delivered (Goldkamp et al., 2002; Harrell & Roman, 2001; Marlowe et al., 2005), and the quality of the treatment services provided (Turner et al., 1999) are often predictive of recidivism and correlate significantly with adherence to best practices. Needless to say, participants are more likely to be forthright with an independent evaluator about their perceptions of the Drug Court than with staff members who control their fate in the criminal justice system.

Studies have not determined how frequently Drug Courts should be evaluated by an independent investigator. Generally speaking, a new evaluation should be performed whenever a program or the environment within which it operates changes substantially. Staff turnover and evidence of drift from the intended model are critical events that call for a new evaluation (Yeaton & Camberg, 1997). Evidence suggests that staff turnover and model drift occur within five-year intervals in Drug Courts. Within five years, between roughly 30% and 60% of Drug Courts experience substantial turnover in key staff positions (Van Wormer, 2010). The highest turnover rates, commonly exceeding 50%, are among substance use disorder and mental health treatment providers (Lutze & Van Wormer, 2007; McLellan et al., 2003; Taxman & Bouffard, 2003; Van Wormer, 2010). Evidence further reveals that staff turnover correlates significantly with drift in the quality of the services provided (Van Wormer, 2010). Therefore, five years is a reasonable outside estimate of how frequently Drug Courts should be evaluated independently. If resources allow, Drug Courts should engage independent evaluators at more frequent intervals to detect drift readily and prevent services from worsening with time.

Drug Courts need to select competent evaluators. The first step in selecting a competent evaluator is to request recommendations from other Drug Courts and national organizations that are familiar with Drug Court operations and research. Senior staff at NADCP and NDCI are familiar with the evaluation literature and the skill sets of dozens of evaluators nationally. When selecting an evaluator, review prior evaluation reports, especially those involving Drug Courts or other problem-solving courts. If prior evaluations failed to follow the practices described herein, consider selecting another evaluator who has demonstrated expertise in applying best practices related to Drug Court program evaluations. One of the most important questions to consider when reviewing prior evaluations is whether the report recommended concrete actions the Drug Court could take to enhance its adherence to best practices and improve its outcomes. The most effective evaluators are aware of the literature on best practices, measure Drug Court practices against established performance benchmarks, and promote useful strategies to improve each program's operations and results.

Many Drug Courts do not have sufficient resources to hire independent evaluators. One way to address this problem is to contact local colleges or universities to determine whether graduate or undergraduate students may be interested in evaluating the Drug Court as part of a thesis, dissertation, or capstone project. Because

such projects require close supervision from senior academic faculty, the Drug Court can receive high-level research expertise at minimal or no cost. Moreover, students are likely to be highly motivated to complete the evaluation successfully because their academic degree and standing depends on it.

E. Electronic Database

Paper files have minimal value for conducting program evaluations. Evaluators are typically required to extract information from handwritten notes and progress reports that are difficult to read, contain contradictory information, and have numerous missing entries. As a consequence, many evaluations are completed months or years after the fact when the results may no longer reflect what is occurring in the program. Such evaluations often contain so many gaps or caveats in the data that the conclusions which may be drawn are tentative at best.

Drug Courts are approximately 65% more cost-effective when they enter standardized information concerning their services and outcomes into an electronic management information system (MIS), which is capable of generating automated summary reports (Carey et al., 2008, 2012). The cost of purchasing an MIS is offset many times over by providing greater efficiencies in operations and yielding the type of performance feedback that is necessary to continually improve and fine-tune one's Drug Court program.

Appendix E provides examples of MISs that have been developed for use in Drug Court evaluations. Some of the older and less sophisticated systems can be obtained free of charge. For example, the Buffalo System (so named because it was developed in a Drug Court in Buffalo, New York) is a Microsoft Access database that can be obtained at no cost by contacting NADCP. Newer systems must be purchased or licensed, but are more likely to be web-based and can be accessed simultaneously by multiple users and agencies. Allowing multiple agencies to use the same MIS, each with its own secured and encrypted access, can spread the cost of the system across several budgets. Newer systems are also more likely to have preprogrammed analytic reports that provide important summary information for staff at the push of a button. Finally, newer systems are more likely to include a data-extraction tool. A data-extraction tool allows information to be imported readily into a statistical program, such as SAS or SPSS, which skilled evaluators then can use to conduct sophisticated statistical analyses.

F. Timely and Reliable Data Entry

The biggest threat to a valid program evaluation is poor data entry by staff. The adage "garbage in/garbage out" is particularly apt in this regard. If staff members do not accurately record what occurred, no amount of scientific expertise or sophisticated statistical adjustments can produce valid findings.

The best time to record information about services and events is when they occur. For example, staff members should enter attendance information into an MIS or written log during court hearings and treatment sessions. This is referred to as real-time recording. The typical staff person in a Drug Court is responsible for dozens of participants and each participant has multiple obligations in the program, such as appearing at court hearings, attending treatment sessions, and delivering urine specimens. Only the rare staff person can recall accurately what events transpired or should have transpired days or weeks in the past. Attempting to reconstruct events from memory is likely to introduce unacceptable error into a program evaluation.

Data should ordinarily be recorded within no more than forty-eight hours of the respective events. Medicare, for instance, requires physicians to document services within a "reasonable time frame," defined as twenty-four to forty-eight hours (Pelaia, n.d.). After forty-eight hours, errors in data entry have been shown to increase significantly. After one week, information is so likely to be inaccurate that it may be better to leave the data as missing than attempt to fill in gaps from faulty memory (Marlowe, 2010).

Staff members who are persistently tardy when entering data pose a serious threat to the integrity of a Drug Court. Not only are evaluation results unlikely to be accurate, but those same staff persons are unlikely to be delivering appropriate services. Good-quality treatment and supervision require staff to monitor participant behavior vigilantly, record performance information in a timely and actionable fashion, and adjust services and consequences accordingly. Failing to record performance information in a timely and reliable manner undermines the quality and effectiveness of a Drug Court and seriously jeopardizes participant care.

G. Intent-to-Treat Analyses

A serious error in some Drug Court evaluations is to examine outcomes only for participants who graduated

successfully from the program. The logic for performing such an analysis is understandable. Evaluators are often interested in learning what happens to individuals who received all of the services the program has to offer. If individuals who dropped out or were terminated prematurely from the Drug Court are included in the analyses, the results will be influenced by persons who did not receive all of the intended services.

Although this reasoning might seem logical, it is scientifically flawed (Heck, 2006; Heck & Roussell, 2007; Marlowe, 2010, in press; Peters, 1996; Rempel, 2006, 2007). Outcomes must be examined for all eligible individuals who participated in the Drug Court regardless of whether they graduated, were terminated, or withdrew from the program. This is referred to as an intent-to-treat analysis because it examines outcomes for all individuals whom the program initially set out to treat. Reporting outcomes for graduates alone is not appropriate because such an analysis unfairly and falsely inflates the apparent success of the program. For example, individuals who graduated from the Drug Court are more likely than terminated participants to have entered the program with less severe drug or alcohol problems, less severe criminal propensities, higher motivation for change, or better social supports. As a result, they might have been less likely to commit future offenses or relapse to substance use regardless of the services they received in Drug Court.

This issue is particularly important when outcomes are contrasted against those of a comparison sample, such as probationers. Selecting the most successful Drug Court cases and comparing their outcomes to all of the probationers unfairly skews the results in favor of the Drug Court. It is akin to selecting the A+ students from one classroom, comparing their scores on a test to those of all of the students in a second classroom, and then concluding the first class had a better teacher. Such a comparison would clearly be slanted unfairly in favor of the first teacher.

This is not to suggest that outcomes for graduates are of no interest. Drug Courts may, indeed, want to know what happens to individuals who receive all of the services in the program. This, however, should be a secondary analysis that is performed after the intent-to-treat analysis has shown positive results. If it is first determined that the Drug Court achieved significantly improved outcomes on an intent-to-treat basis, it may then be appropriate to proceed further and determine whether outcomes were even better for the graduates. If the intent-to-treat analysis is not significant, then it is not acceptable to move on to evaluate outcomes for graduates alone.

Importantly, if secondary analyses are performed on Drug Court graduates, then the comparison sample should also comprise successful completers. For example, outcomes for Drug Court graduates should be compared to those of probationers who satisfied the conditions of probation. Comparing outcomes for Drug Court graduates to all probationers, including probation failures, would unfairly favor the Drug Court.

The only exception to an intent-to-treat analysis is for what are sometimes referred to as neutral discharges. Some Drug Courts assign a neutral discharge to participants who are withdrawn from the program for reasons beyond the control of the participant and the program. A neutral discharge is assigned most commonly when the Drug Court discovers a participant was admitted to the program erroneously. For example, a participant might need to be withdrawn from Drug Court if he or she had a prior conviction that precluded eligibility for the Drug Court or resided in a judicial district that was not within the jurisdictional boundaries of the Drug Court. A neutral discharge may also be assigned to participants who are withdrawn from the program because they enlisted in the military or moved out of the jurisdiction with the court's permission. A neutral discharge should never be assigned to cases in which termination was related to a participant's performance in Drug Court.

H. Comparison Groups

The mere fact that individuals perform well after participating in Drug Court does not prove the Drug Court was responsible for their favorable outcomes. Those same individuals might have functioned just as well if they had never entered Drug Court. To examine the important question of causality, the performance of Drug Court participants must be compared against that of an equivalent and unbiased comparison group. Comparing what happened in the Drug Court to what would most likely have happened if the Drug Court did not exist is referred to as testing the *counterfactual hypothesis*, or the possibility that the Drug Court was ineffective (Popper, 1959).

Some comparison groups are reasonably unbiased and can yield a fair and accurate assessment of what would most likely have occurred without the Drug Court. Others, however, may be systematically biased in such a

manner as to make the Drug Court look better or worse than it deserves. This may lead to the unwarranted conclusion that the Drug Court was effective or ineffective when, in fact, the reverse could be true.

Random Assignment—The strongest inference of causality may be reached when eligible individuals are randomly assigned either to the Drug Court or to a comparison group. Random assignment provides the greatest assurance that the groups started out with an equal chance of success; therefore, better outcomes for one group can be confidently attributed to the effects of the program (Campbell & Stanley, 1963; Farrington, 2003; Farrington & Welsh, 2005; National Research Council, 2001; Telep et al., 2015). Even when an evaluator employs random assignment, there is still the possibility (albeit a greatly diminished possibility) that the groups differed on important dimensions from the outset. This possibility requires the evaluator to perform a confirmation of the randomization procedure. The evaluator will need to check for preexisting differences between the groups that could have affected the results. If the groups differed significantly on variables that are correlated with outcomes (such as the severity of participants' criminal histories or drug problems), the evaluator might employ statistical procedures to adjust for those differences and obtain defensible results.

As a practical matter, conducting random assignment is often very difficult in Drug Courts. Some staff members may have ethical objections against denying potentially effective services to eligible individuals. Moreover, some Drug Courts may have difficulty filling their slots and may not wish to turn away eligible individuals. The evaluator will also need to gain approval and buy-in for random assignment from numerous professionals and agencies, including the court, prosecution, and defense counsel. Finally, random assignment usually requires implementation of ethical safeguards (National Research Council, 2001). For example, participants may need to provide informed consent to random assignment, and an independent ethics review board may need to oversee the safety and fairness of the study. Local colleges and universities often have institutional review boards (IRBs) or data and safety monitoring boards (DSMBs) which have the authority and expertise to provide ethical oversight for randomized studies.

Random assignment poses far fewer challenges if a Drug Court has insufficient capacity to treat many individuals who would otherwise be eligible for its services. If many eligible people must be turned away, then it would arguably be fairest to select participants randomly rather than allow staff members to pick and choose who gets into the program. Under such circumstances, random assignment may provide the best protection against unfair discrimination and unconscious bias (National Research Council, 2001). In fact, a number of Drug Court studies have used random assignment successfully in light of insufficient program capacity (e.g., Gottfredson et al., 2003; Jones, 2011; Turner et al., 1999).

Quasi-Experimental Comparison Group—In many Drug Courts, engaging in random assignment is simply impractical. The next best approach is to use a quasi-experimental comparison group (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). This refers to individuals who were eligible for the Drug Court but did not enter for reasons that are unlikely to have influenced their outcomes. Perhaps the best example is individuals who were eligible for and willing to enter the Drug Court, but were denied access because there were no empty slots available. This is referred to as a wait-list comparison group. The mere happenstance that the Drug Court was full is unlikely to have led to the systematic exclusion of individuals who had more severe problems or poorer prognoses to begin with, and therefore is unlikely to bias the results.

Less optimal, but still potentially acceptable, quasi-experimental comparison groups include individuals who would have been eligible for the Drug Court but were arrested in the year or so before the Drug Court was established, or were arrested in an immediately adjacent county that does not have a Drug Court (Heck, 2006; Heck & Roussell, 2007; Marlowe, 2010, in press; Peters, 1996). Because these individuals were arrested at an earlier point in time or in a different geographic region than the Drug Court participants, such comparison groups might still be different enough from the Drug Court group to bias the results. For example, socioeconomic conditions might differ significantly between neighboring communities, or law enforcement practices might change from year to year. The likelihood of this occurring, however, is usually not substantial and these may be the only practical comparison conditions that can be used for many Drug Court evaluations.

When using a quasi-experimental comparison group, the evaluator must check for preexisting differences between the groups that could have affected the results (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). For example, the comparison individuals may have had more serious criminal histories than the Drug Court participants to begin with. This, in turn, might have put them at greater risk for criminal recidivism. If so, then superior outcomes for the Drug Court participants might not have been due to the effects of the Drug Court, but rather to the fact

that it treated a less severe population. A skilled evaluator can use a number of statistical procedures to adjust for such differences and potentially obtain scientifically defensible results.

Matched Comparison Group—Evaluators do not always have a quasi-experimental comparison group at their disposal. Under such circumstances, they may be required to construct a comparison group out of a large and heterogeneous pool of offenders. For example, an evaluator might need to select comparison subjects from a statewide probation database. Many of those probationers would not have been eligible for Drug Court, or are dissimilar to Drug Court participants on characteristics that are likely to have influenced their outcomes. For example, some of the probationers might not have had serious drug problems, or might have been charged with offenses that would have excluded them from participation in Drug Court. The evaluator must, therefore, select a subset of individuals from the entire probation pool that are similar to the Drug Court participants on characteristics that are known to affect outcomes. For example, the evaluator might pair each Drug Court participant with a probationer who has the same or similar criminal history, demographic characteristics, and substance use diagnosis (Heck, 2006; Marlowe, 2010, in press). Because the evaluator will choose only those probationers who are similar to the Drug Court participants on multiple characteristics, it is necessary to start out with a large sample of potential candidates from which to select comparable individuals.

The success of any matching strategy will depend largely on whether the evaluator has adequate information about the comparison candidates to make valid matches (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). If data are not available on such important variables as the probationers' criminal histories or substance use problems, evaluators and Drug Courts will not be able to place confidence in the validity of the matches. Simply matching the groups on variables that are easy to measure and readily available, such as gender or race, is not sufficient because the groups might differ on other important dimensions that were not taken into account.

Propensity Score Analysis—An evaluator may also use an advanced statistical procedure called a propensity score analysis to mathematically adjust for differences between the Drug Court and comparison groups. This procedure calculates the statistical probability that an individual with a given set of characteristics would be in the Drug Court group as opposed to the comparison group - in other words, the relative similarity of that individual to one group as opposed to the other (Dehejia & Wahba, 2002). The analysis then mathematically adjusts for this relative similarity when comparing outcomes. Advanced statistical expertise is required to implement and interpret this complicated procedure.

As with any statistical adjustment, the success of a propensity score analysis will depend on whether the evaluator has adequate information about the comparison subjects to make valid adjustments. If data are not available on such important variables as the comparison subjects' criminal histories or substance use problems, evaluators and Drug Courts will not be able to place confidence in the adjustments (Peikes et al., 2008). Again, merely adjusting the scores based on easily measured variables, such as gender or race, is not sufficient because the groups might differ on other important dimensions that were never taken into account.

Invalid Comparison Groups—Several comparison groups have been used in Drug Court evaluations that quite likely produced seriously biased results. Comparing outcomes from a Drug Court to those of individuals who refused to enter the Drug Court, were denied access to the Drug Court because of their clinical or criminal histories, dropped out of the Drug Court, or were terminated prematurely from the Drug Court is rarely, if ever, justified (Heck, 2006; Heck & Thanner, 2006; Marlowe, 2010, in press; Peters, 1996). The probability is unacceptably high that such persons had poorer prognoses or more severe problems to begin with. For example, they very likely had more serious criminal or substance use histories, lower motivation for change, or lesser social supports. Given the high likelihood that these individuals were seriously disadvantaged from the outset, statistical adjustments cannot be relied upon to overcome the differences (Campbell & Stanley, 1963).

I. Time at Risk

For an evaluation to be valid, Drug Court and comparison participants must have the same time at risk, meaning the same opportunity to engage in substance use, crime, and other behaviors of interest to the evaluation. If, for example, an evaluator measured criminal recidivism over a period of twelve months for Drug Court participants, but over a period of twenty-four months for the comparison group, this would give an unfair advantage to the Drug Court participants. The comparison group participants would have twelve additional months in which to commit new crimes or other infractions.

Ensuring an equivalent time at risk requires the evaluator to begin the analyses from a comparable start date for both groups. As was mentioned earlier, Drug Court evaluations typically use the date of entry into Drug Court or the date of the arrest or technical violation that made the individual eligible for Drug Court as the start date for analyses. If the comparison group is comprised of probationers, comparable start dates might be the date the individual was placed on probation or the date of the arrest that led to a probation sentence.

If the time at risk differs significantly between groups, the evaluator might be able to compensate for this problem by adjusting statistically for time at risk in outcome comparisons. For example, the evaluator might enter time at risk as a covariate in the statistical analyses. A covariate is a variable that is entered first into a statistical model. The independent effect of the variable of interest (in this case, being treated in a Drug Court) is then examined after first taking the effect of the covariate into account. This procedure would indicate whether Drug Court participants had better outcomes after first taking into account the influence of their shorter time at risk. The use of covariates is not always successful, however, and the best course of action is to ensure the groups have equivalent follow-up windows.

A related issue is referred to as time at liberty. Time at liberty and time at risk are similar in that both affect a participant's opportunity to reoffend or engage in other behaviors of interest to the evaluation. The difference is that time at liberty relates to whether restrictive conditions were placed on the participant. The most obvious restrictive conditions involve physical barriers to freedom, such as incarceration or placement in a residential treatment facility. These physical barriers severely restrict a participant's ability to use drugs, commit new offenses, obtain a job, or engage in other behaviors of interest to evaluators.

A potential error in Drug Court evaluations is to neglect time at liberty when performing outcome comparisons. In some jurisdictions, for example, individuals who do not enter Drug Court may be more likely to receive a jail sentence. If they are jailed for a portion of the follow-up period, they might have fewer opportunities to reoffend or use drugs than Drug Court participants who are treated in the community. The evaluator might conclude, erroneously, that Drug Court caused participants to reoffend or use drugs more often, when in fact they simply had more time at liberty to do so. Under such circumstances, the evaluator would need to adjust statistically for participants' time at liberty in the outcome analyses. For example, the evaluator might need to enter time at liberty as a covariate in the statistical models. This would indicate whether Drug Court participants had better outcomes after first taking into account their longer time at liberty. As was noted earlier, such adjustments are not always successful and Drug Courts will require expert consultation to ensure the analyses are carried out appropriately.

Note that evaluators are not always advised to adjust for time at liberty. In cost analyses, for example, the time participants spend in jail or a residential treatment facility is an important outcome in its own right and should be valued accordingly from a fiscal standpoint. Deciding whether to adjust for time at liberty, like many evaluation-related decisions, requires scientific expertise and careful consideration of the aims of the study. For such analyses, Drug Courts are strongly advised to obtain expert statistical and scientific consultation.

REFERENCES

- Aos, S., Miller, M., & Drake, E. (2006). Evidence-based public policy options to reduce future prison construction, criminal justice costs, and crime rates. Olympia: Washington State Institute for Public Policy.
- Belenko, S., Patapis, N., & French, M.T. (2005). Economic benefits of drug treatment: A critical review of the evidence for policy makers. Philadelphia: Treatment Research Institute.
- Berman, G., Rempel, M., & Wolf, R.V. (Eds.). (2007). *Documenting results: Research on problem-solving justice*. New York: Center for Court Innovation.
- Bryson, J.M., Crosby, B.C., & Stone, M.M. (2006). The design and implementation of cross-sector collaborations: Propositions from the literature. *Public Administration Review*, 66(Suppl.1), 44–55.
- Burke, K.S. (2010). Just what made drug courts successful? New England Journal on Criminal & Civil Confinement, 36(1), 39–58.
- Campbell, D.T., & Stanley, J.C. (1963). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research. Chicago: Rand McNally College Publishing Company.

- Carey, S.M., Finigan, M.W., & Pukstas, K. (2008). Exploring the key components of drug courts: A comparative study of 18 adult drug courts on practices, outcomes and costs. Portland, OR: NPC Research.
- Carey, S.M., Mackin, J.R., & Finigan, M.W. (2012). What works? The ten key components of drug court: Research-based best practices. *Drug Court Review*, 8(1), 6–42.
- Carey, S.M., & Waller, M.S. (2011). Oregon drug courts: Statewide costs and promising practices. Portland, OR: NPCResearch.
- Casey, P., Warren, R., Cheesman, F., & Elek, J. (2012). *Helping courts address implicit bias: Resources for education*. Williamsburg, VA: National Center for State Courts.
- Cissner, A., Rempel, M., Franklin, A.W., Roman, J.K., Bieler, S., Cohen, R., & Cadoret, C.R. (2013). A statewide evaluation of New York's adult drug courts: Identifying which policies work best. New York: Center for Court Innovation.
- Damschroder, L.J., Aron, D.C., Keith, R.E., Kirsh, S.R., Alexander, J.A., & Lowery, J.C. (2009). Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: A consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implementation Science*, 4(50).doi:10.1186/1748-5908-4-50
- Dehejia, R.H., & Wahba, S. (2002). Propensity score-matching methods for nonexperimental causal studies. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 84(1), 151–161.
- DeVall, K.E., Gregory, P.D., & Hartmann, D.J. (2015, June 10). Extending recidivism monitoring for drug courts: Methods, issues and policy implications. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology: Online*. doi:10.1177/0306624X15590205.
- Downey, P.M., & Roman, J.K. (2010). A Bayesian meta-analysis of drug court cost-effectiveness. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- Durose, M.R., Cooper, A.D., & Snyder, H.N. (2014). Recidivism of prisoners released in 30 states in 2005: Patterns from 2005 to 2010. Washington, DC: U.S. Dept. of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Etheridge, R.M., Craddock, S.G., Dunteman, G.H., & Hubbard, R.L. (1995). Treatment services in two national studies of community-based drug abuse treatment programs. *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 7(1), 9–26.
- Farrington, D.P. (2003). A short history of randomized experiments in criminology: A meagre feast. *Evaluation Review*, 27(3), 218–227.
- Farrington, D.P., & Welsh, B.C. (2005). Randomized experiments in criminology: What have we learned in the last two decades? *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 1(1),9–38.
- Friedmann, P.D., Taxman, F.S., & Henderson, C.E. (2007). Evidence-based treatment practices for drug-involved adults in the criminal justice system. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 32(3), 267–277.
- Gifford, E.J., Eldred, L.M., McCutchan, S.A., & Sloan, F.A. (2014). The effects of participation level on recidivism: A study of Drug Treatment Courts using propensity score matching. Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 9(40). doi:10.1186/1747-597X-9-40
- Goldkamp, J.S., White, M.D., & Robinson, J.B. (2002). An honest chance: Perspectives on drug courts. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 14(6), 369–372.
- Gossop, M., Tradaka, K., Stewart, D., & Witton, J. (2005). Reductions in criminal convictions after addiction treatment: 5-year follow-up. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 79(3), 295–302.
- Gottfredson, D.C., Kearley, B.W., & Bushway, S.D. (2008). Substance use, drug treatment, and crime: An examination of intra-individual variation in a drug court population. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 38(2),601–630.
- Gottfredson, D.C., Kearley, B.W., Najaka, S.S., & Rocha, C.M. (2007). How Drug Treatment Courts work: An analysis of mediators. *Journal of Research on Crime & Delinquency*, 44(1), 3–35.
- Gottfredson, D.C., Najaka, S.S., & Kearley, B. (2003). Effectiveness of Drug Treatment Courts: Evidence from a randomized trial. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 2(2),171–196.
- Government Accountability Office. (2011). Adult drug courts: Studies show courts reduce recidivism, but DOJ could enhance future performance measure revision efforts [No. GAO-12-53]. Washington, DC: Author.

- Harrell, A., & Roman, J. (2001). Reducing drug use and crime among offenders: The impact of graduated sanctions. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 31(1), 207–232.
- Heck, C. (2006). Local drug court research: Navigating performance measures and process evaluations [Monograph Series No. 6].

 Alexandria, VA: National Drug Court Institute. Available at http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/ndci/Mono6.Local Research.pdf
- Heck, C., & Roussell, A. (2007). Record keeping and statistics. In J.E. Lessenger & G.F. Roper (Eds.), *Drug courts: A new approach to treatment and rehabilitation* (pp. 401–413). New York: Springer.
- Heck, C., & Thanner, M.H. (2006). Evaluating drug courts: A model for process evaluation. Drug Court Review, 5(2), 51–82.
- Henderson, C.E., Young, D.W., Jainchill, N., Hawke, J., Farkas, S., & Davis, R.M. (2007). Program use of effective drug abuse treatment practices for juvenile offenders. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 32(3),279–290.
- Huebner, B.M., & Cobbina, J. (2007). The effect of drug use, drug treatment participation, and treatment completion on probationer recidivism. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 37(3),619–641.
- Inciardi, J., Martin, S., & Butzin, C. (2004). Five-year outcomes of therapeutic community treatment of drug-involved offenders after release from prison. *Crime & Delinquency*, 50(1), 88–107.
- Jones, C. (2011, November). Intensive judicial supervision and drug court outcomes: Interim findings from a randomized controlled trial. *Crime & Justice Bulletin*, 152, 1–16. *Available at*http://www.bocsar.nsw.gov.au/Documents/cjb152.pdf
- Jones, C., & Kemp, R.I. (2011). The relationship between early-phase substance use trajectories and drug court outcomes. *Criminal Justice & Behavior*, 38(9), 913–933.
- King, R., & Elderbroom, B. (2014). *Improving recidivism as a performance measure*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute. *Available at* http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/413247-improving-recidivism.pdf
- Knight, K., Simpson, D.D., & Hiller, M.L. (1999). Three-year reincarceration rates outcomes for in-prison therapeutic community treatment in Texas. *Prison Journal*, 79(3), 337–351.
- Latimer, J., Morton-Bourgon, K., & Chretien, J. (2006). A meta-analytic examination of drug treatment courts: Do they reduce recidivism? Ottawa, ON: Canada Dept. of Justice, Research & Statistics Division.
- Lowenkamp, C.T., Holsinger, A.M., & Latessa, E.J. (2005). Are drug courts effective? A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Community Corrections*, 15(1), 5–28.
- Lutze, F.E., & Van Wormer, J.G. (2007). The nexus between drug and alcohol treatment program integrity and drug court effectiveness: Policy recommendations for pursuing success. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 18(3),226–245.
- Marlowe, D.B. (2010). Introductory handbook for DWI court program evaluations. Alexandria, VA: National Center for DWI Courts. Available at http://www.dwicourts.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/DWI%20Ct%20Eval%20Manual%20REVISED-8-10.pdf
- Marlowe, D.B. (2013). Achieving racial and ethnic fairness in drug courts. Court Review, 49(1), 40-47.
- Marlowe, D.B. (in press). Manual for scientific monitoring and evaluation of drug treatment courts in the Americas. Washington, DC: Inter-American Drug Abuse Control Commission, Organization of American States.
- Marlowe, D.B., Festinger, D.S., Foltz, C., Lee, P.A., & Patapis, N.S. (2005). Perceived deterrence and outcomes in drugcourt. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 23(2), 183–198.
- Marlowe, D.B., Heck, C., Huddleston, C.W., & Casebolt, R. (2006). A national research agenda for drug courts: Plotting the course for second-generation scientific inquiry. *Drug Court Review*, 5(2),1–31.
- Martin, S.S., Butzin, C.A., Saum, C.A., & Inciardi, J.A. (1999). Three-year reincarceration outcomes of therapeutic community treatment for drug-involved offenders in Delaware: From prison to work release to aftercare. *Prison Journal*, 79(3), 294–320.
- McIvor, G. (2009). Therapeutic jurisprudence and procedural justice in Scottish drug courts. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 9(1) 29–49.
- McLellan, A.T., Carise, D., & Kleber, H.D. (2003). Can the national addiction treatment infrastructure support the public's demand for quality care? *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 25(2),117–121.

- Mitchell, O., Wilson, D.B., Eggers, A., & MacKenzie, D.L. (2012). Assessing the effectiveness of drug courts on recidivism: A meta-analytic review of traditional and nontraditional drug courts. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(1), 60–71.
- National Institute of Justice. (2010). Drug court performance measures and program evaluation. Retrieved from http://www.nij.gov/topics/courts/drug-courts/pages/measures-evaluation.aspx
- National Research Council. (2001). *Informing America's policy on illegal drugs: What we don't know keeps hurting us.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Olson, D.E., & Lurigio, A.J. (2014). The long-term effects of prison-based drug treatment and aftercare services on recidivism. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 53(8),600–619.
- Peikes, D.N., Moreno, L., & Orzol, S.M. (2008). Propensity score matching: A note of caution for evaluators of social programs. American Statistician, 62(3), 222–231.doi:10.1198/000313008X332016
- Pelaia, R.A. (n.d.). Medical record entries: What is timely and reasonable? Retrieved from http://news.aapc.com/index.php/2013/09/medical-record-entries-what-is-timely-and-reasonable/
- Peters, R.H. (1996). Evaluating drug court programs: An overview of issues and alternative strategies. Washington, DC: Justice Programs Office at American University.
- Peters, R.H., Haas, A.L., & Hunt, W.M. (2002). Treatment "dosage" effects in drug court programs. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 33(4), 63–72.
- Popper, K. (1959). The logic of scientific discovery. New York: Harper & Row.
- Rempel, M. (2006). Recidivism 101: Evaluating the impact of your drug court. Drug Court Review, 5(2), 83–112.
- Rempel, M. (2007). Action research: Using information to improve your drug court. In G. Berman, M. Rempel & R.V. Wolf (Eds.), *Documenting results: Research on problem-solving justice* (pp. 101–122). New York: Center for Court Innovation.
- Rossman, S.B., Rempel, M., Roman, J.K., Zweig, J.M., Lindquist, C.H., Green, M.,... Farole, D.J. (2011). *The multisite adult drug court evaluation: The impact of drug courts (vol. 4)*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Justice Policy Center. Available at https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/237112.pdf
- Rubio, D.M., Cheesman, F., & Federspiel, W. (2008a). Performance measurement of drug courts: The state of the state. Williamsburg, VA: National Center for State Courts. Available at http://cdm16501.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/ref/collection/spcts/id/171
- Rubio, D.M., Cheesman, F., & Webster, L. (2008b). Kentucky drug court statewide technical assistance project: Development of statewide adult drug court performance measures. Denver, CO: National Center for State Courts.
- Rudes, D.S., Viglione, J., & Porter, C.M. (2013). Using quality improvement models in correctional organizations. *Federal Probation*, 77(2). *Available at*http://www.uscourts.gov/uscourts/FederalCourts/PPS/FedProb/2013-09/quality.html
- Shaffer, D.K. (2010). Looking inside the black box of drug courts: A meta-analytic review. Justice Quarterly, 28(3), 493-521.
- Taxman, F.S., & Belenko, S. (2013). *Implementing evidence-based practices in community corrections and addiction treatment.*New York: Springer.
- Taxman, F.S., & Bouffard, J.A. (2003). Substance abuse counselors' treatment philosophy and the content of treatment services provided to offenders in drug court programs. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 25(2), 75–84.
- Taxman, F.S., Perdoni, M.L., & Harrison, L.D. (2007). Drug treatment services for adult offenders: The state of the state. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 32(3), 239–254.
- Telep, C.W., Garner, J.H., & Visher, C.A. (2015, July 3). The production of criminological experiments revisited: The nature and extent of federal support for experimental designs, 2001–2013. *Journal of Experimental Criminology: Online*. doi:10.1007/s11292-015-9239-6
- Truman, J.L., & Langton, L. (2014). *Criminal victimization, 2013.* Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, U.S. Dept. of Justice. *Available at* http://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/cv13.pdf
- Turner, S., Greenwood, P., Fain, T., & Deschenes, E. (1999). Perceptions of drug court: How offenders view ease of program completion, strengths and weaknesses, and the impact on their lives. *National Drug Court Institute Review*, 2(1),61–85.

Idaho Treatment Court Best Practice Standards Volume II

- Van Wormer, J. (2010). Understanding operational dynamics of drug courts (Doctoral dissertation, University of Washington). Retrieved fromhttp://research.wsulibs.wsu.edu:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/2376/2810/vanWormer_wsu_0251E_10046.pdf ?sequence=1
- Waters, N.L., Cheesman, F.L., Gibson, S.A., & Dazevedo, I. (2010). Mental health court performance measures: Implementation and user's guide. Williamsburg, VA: National Center for State Courts.
- Wexler, H.K., Melnick, G., Lowe, L., & Peters, J. (1999). Three-year reincarceration outcomes for Amity in-prison therapeutic community and aftercare in California. *Prison Journal*, 79(3), 321–336.
- Wexler, H.K., Zehner, M., & Melnick, G. (2012). Improving drug court operations: NIATx organizational improvement model. *Drug Court Review*, 8(1), 80–95.
- Wilson, D.B., Mitchell, O., & MacKenzie, D.L. (2006). A systematic review of drug court effects on recidivism. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 2(4),459–487.
- Yeaton, W., & Camberg, L. (1997). Program evaluation for managers: A primer. Boston: Management Decision and Research Center and Office of Research and Development, Dept. of Veterans Affairs. Available at http://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/publications/internal/ProgEval-Primer.pdf
- Yu, J., Clark, L.P., Chandra, L., Dias, A., & Lai, T.F. (2009). Reducing cultural barriers to substance abuse treatment among Asian Americans: A case study in New York City. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 37(4), 398–406.
- Zarkin, G.A., Cowell, A.J., Hicks, K.A., Mills, M.J., Belenko, S., Dunlap, L.J., & Keyes, V. (2012, November 5). Lifetime benefits and costs of diverting substance-abusing offenders from state prison. Crime & Delinquency: Online. doi:10.1177/0011128712461904